Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy Polish Academy of Sciences Rudolfa Weigla 12, 53-114 Wrocław

RESEARCH REPORT 2017

Contents	Page
1. Laboratory of Experimental Anticancer Therapy Head: Professor Joanna Wietrzyk, Ph.D.	3
2. Laboratory of Tumour Molecular Immunobiology Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.	4
3. Laboratory of Biomedical Chemistry Head: Professor Janusz Boratyński, Ph.D., Eng.	5
4. Laboratory of Clinical Immunogenetics and Pharmacogenetics Head: Professor Katarzyna Bogunia-Kubik, Ph.D.	6
5. Laboratory of Immunogenetics and Tissue Immunology Head: Professor Piotr Kuśnierczyk, Ph.D.	7
6. Laboratory of Clinical Immunology Head: Professor Andrzej Lange, M.D.	9
7. Laboratory of Bacteriophages Head: Professor Andrzej Górski, M.D.	10
8. Laboratory of Biology of Stem and Neoplastic Cells Head: Aleksandra Klimczak, Ph.D., D.Sc.	11
9. Department of Anthropology Head: Professor Sławomir Kozieł, Ph.D.	12
10. Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Microorganisms Head: Professor Anna Pawlik, Ph.D.	14
11. Laboratory of Signalling Proteins Acting Head: Professor Jakub Siednienko, Ph.D.	15
12. Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Immunology Head: Professor Małgorzata Cebrat, Ph.D.	15
13. Laboratory of Tumour Immunology Head: Professor Arkadiusz Miążek, Ph.D.	16
14. Laboratory of Immunobiology Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.	17

15. Laboratory of Immunopathology Head: Professor Irena Frydecka, M.D., Ph.D.	18
16. Laboratory of Reproductive Immunology Head: Professor Anna Chełmońska-Soyta, Ph.D., V.D.	19
17. Laboratory of Medical Microbiology Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D.	20
18. Laboratory of Virology Head: Professor Egbert Piasecki, Ph.D.	21
19. Laboratory of General Immunochemistry Head: Professor Maria Janusz, Ph.D.	22
20. Laboratory of Glyconjugates Head: Professor Marcin Czerwiński, Ph.D.	23
21. Laboratory of Microbial Immunochemistry and Vaccines Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.	23

DEPARTMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL ONCOLOGY Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Experimental Anticancer Therapy Head: Professor Joanna Wietrzyk, Ph.D.

Studies on the mechanisms of tumour progression, metastasis, and on the effects of experimental anti-tumour therapy

The role of vitamin D binding protein in the process of tumour metastasis

Vitamin D binding protein (DBP) is a protein belonging to the α 2-globulin fraction, which has the ability to bind and transport vitamin D. In addition, DBP together with gelsolin form a system to remove actin from the blood. The goal is to answer the question concerning the role of nagalaze (α-N-acetylgalactosaminidase) - the enzyme influencing, according to literature data, the anti-tumour activity of DBP - in the process of tumour metastasis. It has been shown that 4T1-metastatic mammary gland cancer cells possessed similar expression of nagalaze to 67NR non-metastatic cells in vitro. In addition, calcitriol and its analogs PRI-2191 and PRI-2205 increased the expression of this enzyme in both cell lines after 72 hours incubation. In analysing the tumours collected from mice treated with the aforementioned vitamin D3 derivatives, it was found that calcitriol and both analogues in the initial stage of tumour progression (day 21) increased the expression of nagalaze in this tissue, while in the later stage (day 33) we observe a significant reduction in enzyme expression. In summary, it has been shown that calcitriol and both analogues can modulate the expression of the enzyme that modifies DBP. This is important from the point of view of published data on the immunosuppressive effects of nagalaze. The observed increase in its expression in the initial stages of tumour progression may contribute to the intensification of the 4T1 cell metastasis process by calcitriol and its analogues observed in our other studies.

Studies on the potential application of bisphosphonates in anti-cancer treatment

Previous studies have shown that the new bisphosphonates show a special (often selective) antiproliferative activity against J774E and RAW264.7 macrophages, which are a model for *in vitro* osteoclast research. Significant pro-apoptotic activity of 12399C and 12592A compounds against J774E cells was demonstrated. The pro-apoptotic activity of both compounds, measured by the increase in caspase activity, was several times higher than in the case of reference zoledronate and incadronate. A similar effect was observed in the case of RAW264.7 cells. In addition, the culture conditions for RAW264.7 macrophages were established: these cells were efficiently differentiated into osteoclasts. Subsequently, the compounds 12399C and 12592A were shown to significantly inhibit the differentiation of RAW264.7 macrophages into osteoclasts. We found approximately 60% inhibition of macrophage differentiation into polymorphonuclear cells by these compounds, an effect similar to the reference zoledronate.

Optimization of transduction conditions and characteristics of mouse myeloid dendritic cells (BM-DC) and JAWS II genetically modified for the production of IL-2 and/or IL-15 and stimulated with tumour antigens

The aim of the task was to obtain vaccines capable of long-term, high production of pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines based on cancer cells and dendritic cells. We

attempt to genetically modify of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BM-DCs) by means of 3rd generation lentiviral vectors containing the *il-15* and/or *il-2* genes. The lack of a reporter gene in the vector, however, precluded assessment of transduction efficiency. In addition, the production level of both cytokines by BM-DCs turned out to be low. It was also planned to use transductants to activate chosen mechanisms of anti-cancer responses. In light of previously obtained data, the use of supernatants from cultures of transduced tumour cells and their antigens activated BM-DCs, which when employed in mixed culture with spleen cells caused their activation. An attempt to use transduced BM-DCs for the direct activation of effector immune cells did not provide the expected results. Therefore, it is planned to develop a new construct containing additional genes (including a reporter gene in place of the selective gene) and a gene responsible for IL-15R chain expression. It is also planned to reuse JAWS II cells to obtain stable transductants containing the reporter gene. Implementation of the method of genetic modification with the use of lentiviral vectors as carriers of cytokine genes or their receptors will allow for the strengthening of the production of selected cytokines to the renewal of the tumour microenvironment and/or modulation of the anticancer response, respectively.

Laboratory of Tumour Molecular Immunobiology Head: Professor Leon Strządała, Ph.D.

Molecular mechanism of programmed cell death and proliferation in normal and tumour cells

Synergistic activity of sorafenib and betulinic acid against clonogenic activity of non-small cell lung cancer cells

Molecular targeted therapies are now applied in the treatment regimen of human nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), as they have been shown to extend progression-free survival and improve overall survival. The highly selective multi-targeted agent sorafenib is an inhibitor of a number of intracellular signalling kinases with anti-proliferative, antiangiogenic, and pro-apoptotic effects in various types of tumours, including NSCLC. Recent studies have shown that a combination using different drugs to treat tumour patients may increase the efficiency of the anti-tumour response. Betulin displays a broad spectrum of biological and pharmacological properties, including anticancer and chemopreventive activity. The NSCLC cell lines with different KRAS mutations, including A549, H358, A427, and normal human peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) cells, were treated with sorafenib and betulinic acid alone and in combination. The combination of sorafenib with betulinic acid had a strong effect on induction of apoptosis of different non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. Significantly, this combination is nontoxic for human PBL. Combination treatment changes the expression of proteins involved in the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis and induces apoptotic death by caspase activation. Importantly, combination treatment with low concentrations of drugs tremendously reduces the colony-forming ability of A549, H358, and A427 cells as compared to both compounds alone. In conclusion, the present study demonstrates that sorafenib in combination with betulinic acid enhances the inhibitory effect on NSCLC cells. Betulinic acid strengthens the anti-proliferative action of sorafenib, promotes NSCLC cell apoptosis, and allows for the use of lower doses of sorafenib than doses currently used. It should be underlined that combinatorial treatments with low concentrations of sorafenib and betulinic acid have therapeutic potential for NSCLC treatment, as targeting a clonogenic/tumour initiating/stem cell-like subset of cancer cells is thought to be essential for successful cancer therapy. Moreover, the combination of sorafenib and betulinic acid is effective regardless of KRAS mutations. Hence, it is worthwhile to consider this combination treatment for NSCLC and warrants further evaluation in clinical trials.

Laboratory of Biomedical Chemistry Head: Professor Janusz Boratyński, Ph.D., Eng.

The use of icosahedral boron clusters as modifying entities for biologically active molecules

In our laboratory we focused on boron clusters as a class of entities suitable for modifications of biomolecules in order to obtain a specific biological effect. We have focused on icosahedral boron clusters, as well as metallacarboranes (Figure 1), their biological activity, and their interaction with the biological environment. Icosahedral boron clusters demonstrate high potential in biological and medicinal applications. They can be used to optimize parameters critical for the biological activity and affinity of therapeutic substances toward biological targets. Boron clusters induce these effects due to their extraordinary properties, including near-spherical geometry; chemical, biological, and thermal stability; low toxicity; high (depending upon structure) hydrophilicity, hydrophobicity, or amphiphilicity; and susceptibility to derivatization. The fact that the electronegativity of boron toward hydrogen is inverted with respect to carbon raises the question of the influence of boron cluster derivative compounds in biological environments. Boron clusters are a new component for the modification of biomolecules and have numerous applications in biomedical chemistry.



Figure 1. Structures of selected boron clusters compounds

Our latest studies prove that metallacarboranes and their derivatives interact strongly with serum albumin and bind specifically to the hydrophobic cavity of albumin. The interaction of boron clusters with albumin has been examined by fluorescence quenching, circular dichroism, dynamic and static light scattering measurements, and MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Our results have shown that among the tested clusters metallacarboranes have the strongest interaction with albumin. This finding creates the new possibility of the synthesis of new biologically active hybrid conjugates with beneficial pharmacokinetic properties.

Bacteriophages

Our laboratory is studying the physicochemistry of bacteriophages. We look at bacteriophages as nanoparticles with both therapeutic and biotechnological potential. In our laboratory we have developed a procedure for lipopolysaccharide removal from bacteriophage preparations obtained from Gram-negative bacteria. The method involves extraction with the

use of octanol or butanol interchangeably. During extraction, 99% of the endotoxin is removed, while most of the phage lytic activity is maintained. Our research in the bacteriophage field is currently focused on the development of stabilization conditions for purified preparations and studies on the virus behaviour in different environments. Research topics implemented in our laboratory are part of the global trend of searching for smart nanocarriers used for targeted therapy.

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY

Laboratory of Clinical Immunogenetics and Pharmacogenetics Head: Professor Katarzyna Bogunia-Kubik, Ph.D.

Influence of *MICA* and *NKG2D* genetic variants in response to anti-TNF agents and changes of cytokine serum levels during treatment

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease characterized by the inflammation of joint synovial tissue, resulting in the progression of cartilage and bone tissue damage, ultimately leading to disability. Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I chain-related A (MICA) proteins are stress-induced molecules involved in the transmission of activating signals through the NKG2D receptor. The MICA proteins are aberrantly expressed in synovial tissue in patients with RA. NKG2D acts as a powerful activating and co-stimulatory receptor on immune effector cells including NK and T cells. Disruptions within the NKG2D signalling pathway may trigger an exacerbated immune response and promote autoimmune reactions. Therefore, we aimed to assess the role of the MICA and NKG2D polymorphism in RA, as well as the changes in MICA. We selected pro-inflammatory cytokine serum levels prior to, and 3 and 6 months after, anti-TNF treatment.

Serum levels were examined using Human Luminex Assay (MICA) from R&D Systems Inc., and monoplex (IL-17F) and 7xplex ProcartaPlex Multiplex (IL-17A, IL-1beta, IL-6, IL-22, IL-23, sRANKL, TNF-alpha) Immunoassays from Invitrogen Inc., on the Luminex 200 system. Genotyping was performed employing either Taqman (Applied Biosystems) or LightSNiP (TIB-MolBiol) assays. Clinical response was evaluated according to the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) criteria at 12 and 24 weeks after initiation of anti-TNF treatment.

Patients before therapy presented with significantly higher serum levels of IL-6 (p < 0.001), IL-1beta (p = 0.002) and TNF-alpha (p < 0.001), as compared to healthy controls. The presence of the *IL6* rs1800795 CC homozygous genotype was associated with the highest IL-6 concentrations before treatment (p = 0.026). This homozygosity was also more frequently detected in patients with more active disease (DAS28 \ge 3) (p = 0.048). *IL1B* genotypes were found not to be significantly associated with serum levels of this cytokine. Patients with RA possessing the *IL1B* rs16944 C allele are characterized with lower CRP levels after 3 months of anti-TNF therapy (p = 0.035). As for *TNFA* polymorphisms (rs1800629, rs1799724, rs361525) under study, a significant relationship was identified between *TNFA* rs1799724 CC homozygosity and the presence of the rheumatoid factor (p = 0.033).

MICA serum levels rose during anti-TNF therapy (p = 0.021) and significantly higher MICA concentrations were observed in patients possessing the rs1051792 GG genotype (p < 0.001). Moreover, the GG homozygous genotype was also more frequent among patients characterized with worse clinical response after 12 weeks (p = 0.010). In addition, patients carrying the heterozygous genotype achieved significantly better EULAR responses to anti-TNF agents than patients having homozygous genotypes (p = 0.003).

Among *NKG2D* rs2255336, rs1049174, and rs1154831 polymorphisms, both *NKG2D* rs225336 and rs1049174 were significantly associated with efficacy of the treatment with TNF inhibitors. Inefficient therapy was more frequently observed in patients with rs2255336 GG (p = 0.003) or rs1049174 CC genotype (p = 0.004). The presence of the rs2255336 G or the rs1049174 C allele correlated with a worse EULAR response (p = 0.002 and p = 0.031, respectively). Moreover, patients carrying the rs2255336 or rs1049174 heterozygous genotype achieved better EULAR responses than patients with homozygous genotypes (p = 0.002, respectively).

In conclusion, our results imply that *MICA* and *NKG2D* polymorphisms might act as genetic predictors of response to therapy with TNF inhibitors. Additionally, IL-6, IL-1beta and TNF-alfa levels might be associated with predisposition to RA. Moreover, *MICA* polymorphism correlates with its expression, which changes during therapy with TNF inhibitors in patients with RA.

The study was supported by the National Science Centre 2016/21/B/NZ5/01901 project.

Laboratory of Immunogenetics and Tissue Immunology Head: Professor Piotr Kuśnierczyk, Ph.D.

Immunogenetics of human diseases

We are presently carrying out two projects granted by the National Centre of Science (NCS), and two projects granted by the National Scientific Leading Centre (Krajowy Naukowy Ośrodek Wiodący, KNOW). NCS grants deal with: (i) the role of genetic polymorphisms in recurrent spontaneous abortion and failure of *in vitro* fertilization procedure and (ii) with associations of genes encoding antigen presentation machinery components with non-small cell lung cancer. KNOW grants are focused on the association of *HLA-C* alleles with atopic dermatitis and on the role of *ALCAM* and *CD6* gene polymorphisms in multiple sclerosis and non-small cell lung cancer. These projects are in progress. The main results, which have already been published, are as follows:

a) The role of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase in human reproduction failures

One of the key enzymes that could contribute to reproductive failure in humans is methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR). It catalyses formation of 5-methyltetrahydrofolate, which is involved in the methylation of homocysteine (Hcy) to methionine. The aim of this study was to evaluate the MTHFR c.c.677 C>T and c.c.1298 A>C polymorphisms' association with recurrent spontaneous abortion (RSA) and recurrent in vitro fertilization failure (RIF). We observed a protective effect of the female 1298 AC genotype and the C allele against RSA. Moreover, 1298 AA/677 CT women were more frequent in RSA and RIF groups in comparison to fertile women, although this difference was significant only in the case of RSA. Moreover, the association between elevated homocysteine (Hcy) level in plasma of RSA and RIF women and MTHFR polymorphisms was investigated but did not reveal significant differences. In conclusion, for clinical practice, it is better to check the homocysteine level in plasma, and if the Hcy level is increased, to recommend patients to take folic acid supplements rather than undergo screening of MTHFR for 1298 A>C and 677 C>T polymorphisms.

b) Genetics of endometriosis

Another female reproductive morbidity is endometriosis, which is a disease where endometriotic tissue occurs outside the uterus. Its pathogenesis is still unknown. The most widespread hypothesis claims that ectopic endometrium appears as a result of retrograde menstruation and its insufficient elimination by immunocytes. Some reports have shown expression of non-classical HLA-G molecules on ectopic endometrium. HLA-G is recognized by KIR2DL4, LILRB1, and LILRB2 receptors on natural killer (NK) and other cells. These receptors are polymorphic, which may affect their activity. In this study we investigated whether *HLA-G, KIR2DL4, LILRB1, and LILRB1, and LILRB2* polymorphisms may influence susceptibility to endometriosis and disease progression. The *HLA-G* rs1632947:GG genotype was associated with protection against the disease and its severe stages. *HLA-G* rs1233334:CT protected against progression. *LILRB1* rs41308748:AA and *LILRB2* rs383369:AG were predisposed to the disease and its progression. No effect of *KIR2DL4* polymorphism was observed. These results support the role of polymorphisms of the HLA-G molecule and its receptors LILRB1 and LILRB2 in susceptibility to endometriosis and its progression.

c) Genetics of multiple sclerosis

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified hundreds of new potential genetic risk loci associated with numerous complex diseases, including multiple sclerosis (MS). Genes that have been discovered by GWAS are now the focus of numerous ongoing studies. The goal of this study was to confirm and understand the potential role of one of such genes – the transmembrane protein 39A gene (*TMEM39A*) – in multiple sclerosis. We showed the difference in *TMEM39A* messenger RNA (mRNA) expression between patients with MS and controls ($T^2_{2;74} = 5.429$; p = 0.0063). In our study, the lower mRNA expression of the *TMEM39A* gene in patients did not correlate with a higher methylation level of the *TMEM39A* promoter. Moreover, neither a decreased level of *TMEM39A* mRNA nor a risk and progression of multiple sclerosis was associated with two single nucleotide polymorphisms of the *TMEM39A* gene. Our investigation is the first to indicate that TMEM39A mRNA expression may be associated with the development and/or course of multiple sclerosis.

d) Microchimerism in psoriasis

Microchimerism is defined as the stable presence of low numbers of cells derived from a different individual due to cell transfer between twins or between mother and fetus during pregnancy. It has been proposed that microchimerism contributes to several human diseases. Fetal cells in the organism of the mother (FMc) have been postulated to play a role in autoimmune diseases. Psoriasis is a disease that has an autoimmune component, but no study on microchimerism in this disease has been reported. Here, we looked for the presence of male cells in mononuclear cell subpopulations from peripheral blood and in skin samples of women with psoriasis as well as of healthy women who had delivered a son. We detected FMc in similar proportions in blood of patients and controls in CD4+, CD8+, and CD34+ cells, whereas in CD34- cells FMc were present in higher fraction of controls, and similar but non-significant difference was observed in CD19+ cells. No microchimeric cells were, however, detected in patients' skin samples, either from affected and non-affected skin or in skin tissue from healthy control individuals. Therefore, although FMc were detected in some women, our result does not prove the involvement of microchimerism in the aetiology of psoriasis.

Laboratory of Clinical Immunology Head: Professor Andrzej Lange, M.D.

CD8+PD-1+ lymphocytes preferentially reside in marrow as compared to blood, and may witness anti-leukemic activity of the immune system

In our group of patients with HSCT, 45% post-transplant loses were due to relapse. Immunologic surveillance of leukaemia is employed for prevention and may be active in treatment relapsing patients. The issue of exhausted tumour infiltrating lymphocytes has gained a great deal of interest fuelled by scientific data on restoring the function of T cells by blocking CTLA4 and PD-1 receptors on their membrane.

In fighting leukaemia relapse, two approaches were employed at our institution:

(i) donor lymphocytes injection directly into the bone leukemic infiltrates or into the marrow cavity (lower risk of graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), better and more efficient contact between lymphocytes and leukemic blasts)

(ii) the use of a multikinase inhibitor blocking the FLT3 ITD mutation and independently boosting the immune function of the patients (Lange A., PLoS One. 2018 Jan 5;13(1):e0190525).

The clinical effect was monitored and highlighted by thorough observation of the immune environment in the marrow. Altogether, 24 intra-bone donor lymphocyte infusions (IB-DLI) were delivered to eight patients; in three cases sorafenib was used. Overall, a positive effect of IB-DLI was seen; however, temporal IB-DLI led to a decrease in the blast count and to restoration of haematopoiesis.

Three to five IB-DLIs were performed starting from 10E6 and ending with a dose of 10E8 of CD3+ cells/kg body weight. Donor lymphocytes were obtained from unstimulated or stimulated leukopoietic product used for transplantation (Hasskarl J., Bone Marrow Transplant. 2012, 47(2):277-82). The cells were injected directly to the bone marrow cavity via the posterior iliac crest.

Sorafenib was used in three patients with AML (FLT3 ITD-positive, NPM1-positive) who relapsed at 56 (53-year-old male), 256 (50-year-old female), and 30 (50-year-old female) days post-transplant.

Results:

- 1. GvHD symptoms were not aggravated by IB-DLI in any of the patients in the study.
- 2. In IB-DLI receiving patients as well in those on sorafenib, the proportions of CD8+ cells and CD8+PD-1+ lymphocytes were higher in the marrow compared to the blood (7.294±0.957% vs 11.18±1.28%, p < 0.001).
- 3. An increase of CD8+PD-1+ lymphocytes in the marrow was associated with a welldocumented retreat of blasts from the marrow. In addition, the morphology of lymphocytes depicted their activation; in the marrow biopsies, blast-lymphocyte conjugates could be spotted.
- Similarly, in sorafenib-receiving patients marrow CD8+ lymphocytes co-expressed PD-1 in higher proportions than those in the blood (163±32 x103 cells/μl vs 38±8 x103 cells/μl, p < 0.001). All patients on sorafenib developed skin lesions of alloreactive character.

In spite of the high proportion of CD8+CDPD-1+ lymphocytes in the marrow and their apparent prevalent contribution to the marrow lymphocytes, an anti-leukemic effect of both implemented procedures was documented.

Therefore, PD-1 positivity of CD8+ cells is not necessarily associated with the poor function of T cells, and may represent the presence of an active immune response in the marrow environment to the leukemic blasts.

LABORATORY OF BACTERIOPHAGES Head: Professor Andrzej Górski, Ph.D.

Phage inactivation by sera of patients receiving phage therapy

Two groups of patients were identified with high antiphage activity of sera (AAS) (n = 32) and with low AAS (n = 25). Low AAS was observed in 10 patients with genitourinary tract infection using intrarectal phages. The most common disorders of patients with high AAS were bone infections (71.9%) and upper respiratory tract infections (15.6%).

The biology of *Klebsiella* phages from IIET phage collection

The aim of the study was to investigate the biology of 20 *Klebsiella* phages from IIET phage collection. The phages showed stability at 4° C after one year and were stable at pH 5, 6, and 8. Phages were classified (TEM) as *Caudovirales* and three families – *Myoviridae* (11 phages, including 10 phages as A2 morphotype and one as A1 morphotype); *Siphoviridae* (three phages as B1 morphotype); and *Podoviridae* (15 phages as C1 morphotype).

Real-time qPCR as a method for detection of antibody-neutralized phage particles

The most common method for phage quantitation is the plaque assay, which relies on phage ability to infect bacteria. However, non-infective phage particles may preserve other biological properties, including interactions with the immune system of animals and humans.

We have demonstrated that real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) is a potent method for phage detection in both animal and human blood and tissues. This detection method is an alternative to the common plaque assay. Moreover, qPCR was also able to detect neutralized phage particles that were not detected by the standard plaque assay, thus demonstrating a substantial time lapse between 'microbiological disappearance' and true clearance of phage particles from the circulation. We propose that phage pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies should not merely rely on detection of antibacterial activity of a phage. In fact, real-time qPCR can be an important alternative for phage detection.

Preliminary studies on the efficacy of ovocystatin in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in the collagen-induced arthritis model

The aim of this study was to conduct a preliminary assessment of the influence of ovocystatin-albumin bioconjugate (OAB) on the course of collagen-induced arthritis in mice (CIA) – a model of rheumatoid arthritis in humans. Chicken cystatin (ovocystatin) was synthetized at the Department of Pharmaceutical Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy at the Wroclaw Medical University. Cystatins may inhibit cathepsins that contribute to tissue damage in joints and are responsible for the invasive phenotype of activated synoviocytes. In our study we have applied OAB intraperitoneally twice a week in a therapeutic mode (the treatment was started one week after a booster dose of collagen and lasted for three weeks). We were not able to confirm any significant anti-rheumatic activity of OAB (resulting in reduction of clinical symptoms of CIA) at the applied dose of 5 mg/kg of b.w., although it was observed for methotrexate (35 mg/kg of b.w.) used at the same mode as a comparator. We suppose this may be caused by too low doses of OAB or the use of too short linkers between albumin and ovocystatin, which could sterically block ovocystatin interaction with enzymes.

Retrospective analysis of long-term results of the application of phage preparations in patients with chronic bacterial infections

In February 2018 we performed a phone interview with patients (n = 33) with chronic bacterial infections (approximately 70% S. aureus) receiving experimental phage therapy (PT) at the Phage Therapy Unit of Hirszfeld Institute. Information was collected from 33 participants who completed PT from 15 months to 7 years ago. All patients used phage preparations topically; in two cases, by oral route as well. Cumulative treatment time was from 3 to 168 days (median: 51 days). A good response to treatment – assessed according to the scale described by Międzybrodzki et al. (Adv Virus Res. 2012; 83: 73-121) - was observed in 36% of patients immediately after completing the PT (eradication or healing in 12%). Over the next twelve months, 24% of respondents still reported good results of PT (eradication or healing in 18%). Interestingly, 64% of patients assessed the PT result as good at the time of interview (52% reported eradication or healing). Although the majority (79%) of respondents also applied another treatment after the PT, 12 patients (36%) linked their current good clinical state to the PT. None of the 33 interviewed persons reported adverse reactions. Two-thirds of patients confirmed that PT had met their expectations. These results confirm the safety and maintenance of good response to PT for a prolonged time after its completion, which suggests that the beneficial results of PT may be long lasting.

LABORATORY OF BIOLOGY OF STEM AND NEOPLASTIC CELLS Head: Aleksandra Klimczak, Ph.D., D.Sc.

Biology of cells involved in regenerative and neoplastic processes

In 2017, a research group of the laboratory completed studies on the biology of human endothelial precursor cells (HEPCCB.1 and HEPC-CB.2 cell lines). The results confirmed their proangiogenic potential of the cells by tube formation and growth factors production active in angiogenesis.

Working on the biological properties of mesenchymal/progenitor stem cells of bone marrow (BM-MSC) and adipose tissue (AT-MSC) origin in the context of regenerative processes, immortalized BMMSC-SVT.1 and ATMSC-SVT cell lines were created by using hTERT and pSV402 plasmids. Both cell lines express basic antigens specific for MSC including CD73, CD90, and CD105. Both cell lines are negative for hematopoietic and the mature endothelial markers CD45, CD34, and CD31. Similarities and differences between these cell lines were analysed using Microarray Protein Membrane (Custom C-Series Human Cytokine Antibody Array, RayBiotech Inc.). Among 120 analysed cytokines and growth factors, 90 factors were produced by both cell lines. Whereas IL-7 was exclusively produced by ATMSC-SVT, BMMSC-SVT.1 produced 9 different growth factors including GDNF and SCF. Moreover, the cell line of BM-origin was characterized by a higher level of stemness-related marker SSEA-4. In contrast, CD140a and CD140b antigens, which regulate embryonic development, cell proliferation, survival and chemotaxis, were more frequently seen on the ATMSC-SVT cell line.

We searched for alternative sources of MSC, both for experimental studies and as a potential candidate for tissue regeneration (except BM-MSC and AT-MSC). Thus, phenotype and differentiation potential of primary MSC isolated from human skeletal muscle and skin were analysed. Adherent cells isolated from all examined tissues expressed phenotype characteristic for naïve MSC CD73, CD90, and CD105. The heterogenic nature of MSC isolated from different tissues was confirmed as a co-expression of CD73/CD146, CD90/CD146, and CD105/CD146 in the proportion of adherent cells. A fraction of cells expressing CD146 strongly co-expressed PDGFR- α (CD140a). Cells isolated from all examined tissues were capable of differentiating into chondrocytes, osteoblasts, and adipocytes. However, MSC isolated from skeletal muscle were not able to form adipocytes. Our observations confirmed that MSC isolated from BM, skin, and adipose tissue biologically represent multipotent cells capable of differentiating into different type of tissue, whereas progenitor cells isolated from skeletal muscle have tissue-specific character.

Working on tumour cell biology, we developed a method of isolating tumour-specific suppressor cells of myeloid-origin (MDSCs) as well as the phenotypic and functional characteristics of the obtained cells. During the culture of murine BM-origin myeloid cells in the presence of GM-CSF and supernatant from tumour cells of the MC38 (colon cancer), LLC (lung cancer), and TRAMP-C1 (prostate cancer) cell lines, under hypoxia conditions, we obtained cells with characteristics similar to MDSC cells present in cancerous tumours.

For a detailed characterization of MDSCs cultured *in vitro*, a multiparameter flow cytometric protocol was developed, allowing for simultaneous analysis of two subpopulations of MDSC, monocytic and granulocytic cells, as well as assessment of the degree of differentiation and activation of these cells. *In vitro* cultured MDSCs showed phenotype specific for immature myeloid-derived cells. There was no expression of costimulatory molecules and MHC II antigens characteristic of mature myeloid cells. In addition, *in vitro* cultured MDSC were characterized by an increased ability to produce IL-10, one of the markers demonstrating the suppressor activity of these cells.

This method allows for preparation of a large number of MDSC with characteristics similar to MDSC cells infiltrating a tumour, which can be used in studies determining the effect of new therapeutics for modulation of suppressive activity of tumour microenvironment.

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY Head: Professor Sławomir Kozieł, Ph.D.

Digit ratio (2D:4D) and hand grip strength on an aggressive stimulus in Polish male and female students

The ratio of the second digit to the fourth digit (2D:4D) lengths is a proxy indicator of intrauterine hormonal exposure to a fetus. A lower 2D:4D in an individual indicates a higher exposure to testosterone during prenatal growth, relative to another individual who has lower testosterone and higher oestrogen exposure. Challenging conditions and male-to-male competition, including intense exercise and watching aggressive videos, can result in short-term increases in testosterone, aggression, and strength. Based on the results on relationships of 2D:4D with aggression and sports performance, it was suggested that 2D:4D was not associated with T level in resting condition, but with the magnitude of T spikes in response to challenge situations. Handgrip strength (HGS) is a simple measure that predicts muscular strength and lean muscle mass, infirmity, morbidity, and mortality. Thus, the present study was conducted to test whether an aggressive video show could change HGS in men and women and if 2D:4D has any moderating effect on the magnitude of this change.

A cross-sectional experimental study included 74 male and 76 female students, from General Tadeusz Kosciuszko Military Academy of Land Forces, Wroclaw. Participants were examined on two occasions with a seven-day gap in the same day of the week. On the first occasion, participants were shown a blank screen. On the second occasion, a seven-minute video film of MMA (Mixed Martial Arts) fight was shown as an aggressive stimulus. On each occasion all participants underwent measurements of HGS, of both hands, 15 minutes after the show, using a standard isometric dynamometer. Digit length, height, and weight were also measured in all participants. Effect of the sex and 2D:4D on differences in HGS between two measurements (DHGS), allowing for body size (height and BMI) and age, were analysed by Generalised Linear Model (GLM) with logit link function.

The left 2D:4D in males and the right 2D:4D in females had a significant independent impact on the right hand DHGS. In males, 2D:4D had no significant impact on the left hand DHGS. But in females, the left 2D:4D had a significant impact on the left hand DHGS. Both right and left hand 2D:4D had highly significant impact on the average DHGS only in females. Also, in the average DHGS the interaction between 2D:4D for both hands with sex showed a significant effect. The results are discussed in the context of sex differences in a challenge and aggression.

The influence of the presence of a tattoo in men on the assessment of their attractiveness and health

Very few studies published in up-to-date literature have examined and demonstrated a positive association between tattooing and the assessment of male attractiveness, health, or dominance. The existence of such an association is postulated and explained by the higher biological quality of men who wear tattoos, manifesting in the more efficient functioning of the immune system. The aim of the current study was to further explore this relationship by demonstrating how adding a tattoo to the photographs of men changes their perception and assessment of such characteristics as attractiveness, dominance, health, masculinity, and potential as a partner and parent. The study also examined whether the assessment of male images varied depending on the phase of the menstrual cycle of female evaluators.

Nine shirtless men without tattoos were photographed from the waist up. These pictures were digitally modified by adding a black arm tattoo with an abstract, neutral design and presented to 2584 men and women. Pictures with and without tattoo were rated in several categories such as health, attractiveness, aggressiveness, dominance, masculinity, and potential to be a good partner and parent.

Statistical analysis revealed that women rated tattooed versions of the pictures as healthier, but not more or less attractive than the originals. Inversely, men rated tattooed versions of pictures as more attractive, but not more or less healthy than the originals. Both men and women rated pictures of men with a tattoo as more masculine, dominant, and aggressive. Women but not men assessed tattooed men as worse potential partners and parents than non-tattooed men. Furthermore, based on the analysis of effect size, it was demonstrated that adding a tattoo to a photo had higher impact on men's than on women's ratings and that the phase of the menstrual cycle of female evaluators had no effect on women's ratings.

These results confirm that adding tattoos changes others' perception of men. They demonstrate that tattoos not only influence female preference, but they may be even more important in male-male competition. They also suggest a lack of changes in women's preferences toward certain male characteristics depending on the phase of the menstrual cycle postulated in other studies.

DEPARTMENT OF MICROBIOLOGY

Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Microorganism (LMBM) Head: Professor Anna Pawlik, Ph.D.

Replication of bacterial chromosomes Polyketide synthesis and its regulation in *Streptomyces*

The research activity^{*} of LMBM is focused on two scientific issues: 1) replication of bacterial chromosomes, and 2) polyketide synthesis in *Streptomyces*.

1/ Chromosome replication is an important event of the bacterial cell cycle. The decision to initiate chromosome replication is crucial for the cell cycle progression, and depends both on intracellular as well as on environmental signals. We are interested in mechanisms of the initiation and regulation of bacterial chromosome replication, with special emphasis on the characterization of key factors engaged in initiation complex (orisome) formation, namely the initiator protein DnaA, the origin of chromosome replication oriC, and the origin of binding proteins oriBPs, which coordinate the initiation with the cell cycle. We are especially interested in orisome formation in Epsilonproteobacteria. Many of the known Epsilonproteobacteria are obligate or facultative human and/or animal pathogens including Helicobacter pylori and Campylobacter jejuni, which are the leading causes of gastric ulcer/gastric cancer and bacterial foodborne infections worldwide, respectively. The H. pylori oriC is bipartite and consists of two DnaA box clusters and a DNA unwinding element (DUE). We identified two topology- and ATP-dependent binding sites that may play important roles in DnaA assembly. Moreover, we observed that H. pylori has adopted a strategy similar to that of other known bacteria for DnaA box affinity regulation. The analysis of mutations introduced within the DUE indicates the importance of the DNA sequence and location of each submodule to in vitro DnaA binding and DUE opening. Our results show that interplay occurs between DnaA molecules bound to ssDNA and dsDNA. They thus contribute to the ongoing discussion of models of DnaA assembly on *oriC* and the initial steps of DNA melting. We performed the first systematic analysis of chromosome replication initiation in C. jejuni. Interestingly, unlike other Epsilonproteobacterial oriCs, the C. jejuni oriC is monopartite. The cluster of five DnaA boxes and the DUE were found in the dnaA-dnaN intergenic region. Binding of DnaA to this cluster of DnaA-boxes enabled unwinding of the DUE in vitro. However, it was not sufficient to sustain replication of minichromosomes, unless the cluster was extended by additional DnaA boxes located in the 3' end of *dnaA*. This suggests that *C*. *jejuni oriC* is the first bacterial origin extending into a coding region. In vitro DUE unwinding by DnaA was inhibited by Ci1509, an orphan response regulator. We expect that these studies will provide a basis for future research examining the structure and dynamics of the C. jejuni chromosome, which will be crucial for understanding the pathogens' life cycle and virulence.

2/ Polyketides is a large class of bioactive compounds with extremely diverse structures and functions. They are synthesized as secondary metabolites by giant multienzyme complexes: polyketide synthases. Our work is focused on a polyketide synthase Cpk from *S. coelicolor* A3(2), which is responsible for the synthesis of a yellow pigment coelimycin. Expression of *cpk* genes is tightly controlled by regulatory proteins encoded by the genes within the *cpk* cluster and most probably by several pleiotropic regulators connected with regulation of secondary metabolites production as well as *Streptomyces* morphological differentiation. We are interested in deciphering the regulatory circuits governing the synthesis of coelimycin as well as in the discovery of its biological activity.

^{*} The research was supported by statutory funds of the Hirszfeld Institute and by research grants: NCN (DEC-2013/10/E/NZ1/00718), FNP (POMOST/2012-6/9), and KNOW.

Laboratory of Signalling Proteins Acting Head: Professor Jakub Siednienko, Ph.D.

Studies of proteins regulating the autophagy process in Toll-like receptors signalling

Autophagy, due to its participation in the innate immune response and many immune processes, plays an important role in the neutralization of pathogens by the organism. This process is used by many types of immune cells, e.g. dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages, and B lymphocytes. A parallel significant role of the autophagy and Toll-like receptors was observed in bacterial and viral infections. In addition, autophagosomes have been shown to be involved in the presentation of viral nucleic acids to the TLRs 7 and 9. Other obtained data indicate that LPS induces TLR4-dependent autophagy in macrophages. Although the phenomenon of autophagy is relatively well described, its function in the aspect of host immune processes requires a better understanding.

The results of the conducted research show that the Mal adapter protein interacts directly with the ATG16L protein, a component of a large protein complex necessary to create autophagosome. Experiments using the autophagy inhibitor 3-Methyladenine (3-MA - PI3 inhibitor) confirmed that this process is essential for activating the Herpes Simplex Virus 1-induced TLR9 signalling cascade. As a result of TLR9 stimulation with ligands and viral particles in the presence of 3-MA, a decreased level of cytokine mRNA was observed: IFN β , TNF, and CCL5. A similar situation occurred in cells with the knockout gene for the Mal protein, which suggests that the interaction of the Mal protein with ATG16L is required for optimal receptor activity.

DEPARTMENT OF TUMOUR IMMUNOLOGY Head: Professor Paweł Kisielow, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Immunology Head: Professor Malgorzata Cebrat, Ph.D.

Our work is aimed at explaining at which stage of hematopoiesis and in which developmental lines the expression of VDR is activated and how the hormonal form of vitamin D regulates the differentiation of progenitor cells.

In the course of the work, transcription variants of the VDR gene found in blood cells have been identified. Using the 5'RACE PCR method, information was obtained on the VDR gene transcription start site in cells isolated from the bone marrow. The VDR gene expression profile at various stages of hematopoiesis was analysed. The expression of the VDR gene was tested before and after stimulation with vitamin D, ATRA or vitamin D, and ATRA using the Real-Time PCR method. Information on VDR, Cyp24a1, and Cyp26a1 gene expression was obtained in such cell populations as hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs), common myeloid progenitors (CMPs), granulocyte progenitors (GMPs), as well as megakaryocyte-erythrocyte progenitors (MEP) progenitors. The level of methylation of the VDR gene promoter in lymphocytes and granulocytes isolated from the bone marrow were determined.

Our results have confirmed the presence of only one transcriptional variant of the VDR gene in mice.

During the experiments aimed at determining the VDR gene expression at various stages of hematopoiesis, we have shown that this gene is active in all studied populations except for common lymphoid progenitors (CLP). Autoregulation of the VDR gene promoter in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells has been demonstrated. The lack of methylation of the VDR gene promoter was found in all of the cell populations studied.

Laboratory of Tumour Immunology Head: Professor Arkadiusz Miążek, Ph.D.

Phenotypic and molecular characterization of *Spna2* dominant mutant mice: a new model of human cerebellar ataxias

Research project objectives/Research hypothesis

The project aims at characterizing the phenotype of a new mouse strain carrying a spontaneous point mutation of the *Spna2* gene (Spna2mut) encoding the alpha II chain of the non-erythrocytic spectrin. Unlike genetically engineered *Spna2* knockout mice, whose heterozygotes reveal no phenotype, and mutant homozygotes die at early embryonic stage, Spna2mut mice have a dominant-negative point mutation that is revealed in the heterozygous mice during the postnatal life in the form of gait disorders, ataxia, aggression, and splenic hypoplasia. Mutant homozygotes suffer from perinatal mortality with features of brain underdevelopment and multiple intracranial haemorrhages. Preliminary analysis shows that the expression of the alpha II chain of spectrin in heterozygotes of Spna2mut mice is normal. Therefore, the hypothesis assumes that the observed phenotype is due to the lack of necessary but not yet known interactions of the alpha II chain with other cytoskeletal proteins or interactions leading to transmission of signals critical for the development, proliferation, and differentiation of neurons and splenocytes.

Research project methodology

Mice in different age groups will be tested for motor coordination, muscle tone and aggressive behaviour. Immunohistochemistry, electron transmission strength, and microscopy, confocal microscopy, and flow cytometry will be used to characterize changes in the cerebellum, peripheral nerves, and primary and secondary lymphoid organs using a panel of specific antibodies to molecules expressed by neurons and innate/adaptive immune system cells. In addition, primary neuronal and fetal fibroblast cultures will be used to study proteinprotein interactions, subcellular localization of spectrins, and functional studies on neurite outgrowth following stimulation with mimetic peptides against the NCAM molecule. Functional tests of the immune system including serum nitric oxide measurements after bacterial lipopolysaccharide challenge, adoptive transfer of labelled T lymphocytes to lymphopenic mice, and determination of effectiveness of immune response to defined antigens by ELISPOT and in vitro proliferation assays. To investigate novel interactions in the mutated region of the alpha spectrin chain, yeast two-hybrid system will be used as well as a recombinant bacterial fusion proteins will be produced for use in pull-down assay assisted by mass spectrometry-based protein identification.

Expected impact of the research project on the development of science

All previously produced complex research models lacking the expression of the alpha chain of non-erythrocytic spectrin in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Danio rerio*, and *Mus musculus* showed mortality at early stages of larval or fetal development. In turn, the mouse carrying an in-frame deletion in a region of alpha II spectrin sensitive to proteolysis by calpain and caspase (ccc region) in the middle part of the molecule

did not show any abnormality. For this reason, Spna2mut mice that carry a mutation that retains a reading frame and changes only one amino acid residue in the central, highly evolutionary conserved region are unique. The position of the mutation highlights a domain that is novel and critical to maintaining the biological activity of the protein. Examining the mechanisms that govern the functioning of this domain may contribute to a better understanding of the functioning of the nervous and immune systems, which are fully developed only during postnatal life and also dramatically differ in their ability to proliferate and self-renew.

DEPARTMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL THERAPY Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Immunobiology Head: Professor Michał Zimecki, Ph.D.

Protective effect of lactoferrin on apoptosis of WEHI 231 cells, induced by anti-Ig antibodies

We showed that antibodies directed against mouse immunoglobulins inhibited growth of WEHI 231, an immature B cell line, in a dose-dependent manner. Lactoferrin (LF) alone had no effect on cell viability. The cells exposed to LF prior to treatment with anti-Ig antibodies were protected to a significant degree against cell death. Determination of signalling molecule expression revealed a total block of caspase 3 and NF- κ B1 expression in cells not treated with the antibodies, as well as a deep suppression of caspase 3, block of Fas, and a fourfold increase of NF- κ B1 in cells preincubated with LF prior to exposure to the antibodies. In addition, differential changes in expression of interleukin 2 receptor (IL-2R) subunits upon 24h culture with LF were determined (loss of IL-2R function), indicating an induction of a cell differentiation process. In summary, the effect of LF on differentiation of WEHI 231 cells was found, correlated with increased resistance of these cells to anti-Ig induced apoptosis.

Studies on immunosuppressive activities of isoxazole derivatives in *in vitro* immunological models

Investigation of a new series of isoxazole derivatives was conducted. PUB1 and PUB6 compounds inhibited phytohemagglutinin A-induced proliferation of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells at a concentration of 100 and 10 μ g/ml. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) production in human whole blood culture was inhibited by PUB6 but not by PUB1. In the human model of two-way mixed lymphocyte reaction, PUB1 was inhibitory at 50 μ g/ml. Expression of signalling molecules in Jurkat cells revealed that in the case of PUB1, its suppressive activity *in vitro* was not associated with changes in caspase activity but rather with strong increases in expression of Fas and p53.

Evaluation of therapeutic utility of selected azaphenothiazines in mouse models

The therapeutic efficacy of azaphenothiazine derivatives, compound **5** (6-chloroethylureidoethyldiquino[3,2-b;2',3'-e][1,4]thiazine), and compound **4** (6-acetylaminobutyl-9-chloroquino[3,2-b]benzo[1,4]thiazine) was evaluated in several mouse models. The compounds, contained in ointment, were applied topically 24 hours after

elicitation of contact sensitivity to oxazolone in BALB/c mice. Protopic® served as a reference drug. The studied azaphenothiazines showed a high efficacy in diminishing antigen-specific inflammatory response of the skin (auricles), as determined by histological analysis and evaluation of systemic effects of the compounds on immune parameters. The compounds, applied topically, were also tested for their therapeutic potential in experimentally induced psoriasis in BALB/c mice. Clobederm® (a steroid) was used as a reference drug. The compounds also proved to be effective in this model by reducing inflammatory changes in the epidermis and skin. The compounds were devoid of side effects, in contrast to Clobederm[®], which drastically distorted the blood cell composition and reduced the numbers of lymphocytes in blood and lymphoid organs. Compounds 4 and 5, administered with a stomach tube, were also applied in dextran sulfate-induced colitis in C57Bl/6 mice, with 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) as a reference drug. The compound 4 also exhibited therapeutic properties in this model as assessed by a histological examination and by general condition and behaviour of mice. In turn, in the model of allogeneic skin transplantation between BALB/c and C57Bl/6 mice, compound 5 prolonged skin graft survival by 18.5%. In the studies, aimed at elucidation of the mechanism of action of the compounds, we showed that compound 5, but not compound 4, demonstrated proapoptotic action in tumour cell lines. The compound also inhibited the production of chemokines IL-8 and CXCL10 by an epidermal human KERTr cell line. On the other hand, both compounds strongly inhibited production of LPS-induced TNF α production in human whole blood cultures. In summary, these studies revealed for the first time the potential therapeutic utility of azaphenothiazines.

Laboratory of Immunopathology Head: Professor Irena Frydecka, M.D., Ph.D.

Association of genetic variation within *XRCC3* gene with cervical cancer

Genes engaged in DNA repair machine are critical elements in anti-tumour tools. The *XRCC3* gene, an important element of DNA repair network, is located on the 14q32.3 chromosome and encodes a member of the RecA/Rad51-related protein family that participates in homologous recombination to maintain chromosome stability and repair DNA damage. Polymorphic variation of DNA repair enzymes, which may alter the function or repair efficiency, may be responsible for carcinogenesis.

The aim of the study was to evaluate selected *XRCC3* genetic variants as a potential disease risk- and disease-modifying factor.

A population-based, case-control association study was conducted. The research comprised 143 patients (pts) with cervical cancer, treated at Department of Oncology and Gynaecological Oncology Clinic, Wroclaw University of Medicine, and 207 healthy cancer-free women at the time of recruitment (control group). All cases of cervical cancer were histologically defined as cervical squamous cell carcinoma (CSCC), of which 23 cases were well differentiated (G1), 89 cases moderately (G2), and 16 poorly differentiated (G3), and in 15 pts grading was not established. Stage of the disease was classified according the FIGO: stage I=23 pts; II=49 pts; III=53 pts; and IV=9 pts. In nine patients there was no stage description.

The selected *XRCC3*tagSNPs: rs3212079 (c.407-801C>T), rs3212102 (c.562-1081G>T), rs861534 (c.561+809G>T), and rs861537 (c.562-1162G>A) were genotyped with the Allelic discrimination (AD) technique with use of the appropriate TaqMan[®]SNP Genotyping Assays (C_44801819_10, C_27457316_10, C_2983915_20, and C_2983919_10, respectively).

All studied *XRCC3*tagSNPs genotypes in the controls as well as in CSCC patients were distributed with consistency with those expected from the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium model.

Univariate analysis showed that rs3212079 and rs3212102 SNPs were associated with CSCC. The genotype distribution at site rs3212079 varied significantly between CSCC patients and healthy cancer-free women ($p_{after Bonferroni correction = 0.0006$). Moreover, one copy of [G] is enough to modify the risk when the dominant model was applied ([GG]*vs*.[AA]+[GA], *p*=0.0002). Similarly, different genotype distribution between the analysed groups was seen in case of tagSNP rs3212102.

Global haplotype distribution of all studied *XRCC3*tagSNPs differed statistically between CSCC patients and healthy cancer-free women ($\chi^2_{Global,df=5}=17.95$, $p_{Global, Bonferroni}$ correction = 0.003), and haplotype rs3212079[A]/rs3212102[C]/rs861534[T]/rs861537[T] 6.27-fold increased risk of CSCC development (p = 0.0006).

Neither univariate analysis nor haplotype analysis of selected *XRCC3*tagSNPs linked any of those polymorphisms with the response to treatment.

Kaplan-Meier analysis and the log-rank test showed no influence of studied *XRCC3* polymorphisms on the progression-free survival.

In conclusion, our population-based case-control association study may indicate that *XRCC3*tagSNPs are a CSCC risk factor, but not a prognostic as well as predictor factors.

Laboratory of Reproductive Immunology Head: Professor Anna Chełmońska-Soyta, Ph.D., V.D.

Immunological mechanisms associated with reproductive processes in health and disease

TLR receptors and costimulatory molecules gene expression of spleen B (CD19+) lymphocytes in abortion-prone female mice

The presence of an embryo and a fetus influence peripheral immunity in pregnant females.

It may be assumed that a mother's peripheral response of the immune system, similar to a local immune reaction for the presence of the conceptus, leads to establish maternal tolerance towards an antigenically foreign fetus. Both the induction mechanisms and the effects of paternal antigens stimulation on the development of specific tolerance are not well recognized. Our previous experiments have shown that during early pregnancy, costimulatory phenotype of spleen antigen presenting cells is modulated by the presence of pre-implantation embryo (Slawek et al., 2013). On the other hand, the costimulatory effect of antigen presenting cells on lymphocyte activation and differentiation into tolerogenic phenotype is regulated by antigen recognition with an involvement of TLR receptors.

The aim of this study was to investigate the level of toll-like receptors (TLR) 2,4 and 9, costimulatory molecules (CD80, CD86, and CD40), and MHCII gene expression in spleen CD19+ B lymphocytes at third day of pregnancy of abortion-prone female mice (CBA/Jx, DBA/2J) in comparison with control pregnant mice (CBA/Jx, BALB/c). We have shown a statistically significant increase of gene expression of TLR9 receptor compared to females in normal pregnancy (CBA/Jx, BALB/c) in the pre-implantation period of pregnancy. We also observed, on the same cell population, augmentation in the expression of MHC II and CD86 genes. This suggests that splenic B cells are able to activate naive T cells via this molecule. Because the TLR9 receptor is able to recognize not only pathogen associated molecular patterns but also own antigens, we suppose that B lymphocytes (CD19⁺) are capable of recognizing male antigens via TLR receptors (TLR9). In our study, the TLR9

receptor activation signal was not derived from pathogens, because all mice were kept under the same SPF (specific pathogen-free) conditions. Moreover the examined composition (3-OH fatty acid analysis using gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry) and the intestinal microbial metabolic profile (short chain fatty acid analysis), which may provoke PAMPs recognition, did not change in either group in 3dpc. Also, expression of the TLR4 receptor gene (recognizes bacterial LPS) and the TLR2 receptor in the studied cell population was not altered in DBA/2J-mated and BALB/c-mated females.

In conclusion, we hypothesized that in pre-implantation pregnancy of abortion-prone female mice, the increased expression and presumably activation of TLR9 receptor lead to development of activating instead of tolerogenic costimulatory phenotype of splenic B cells.

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOLOGY OF INFECTIOUS DISEASES Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D.

Laboratory of Medical Microbiology Head: Professor Andrzej Gamian, Ph.D.

Studies on the pathogenesis of some diseases of bacterial etiology and role of phages and bacterial surface glycoconjugates and protein antigens in immune response, as well as studies of probiotic proteins and glycoconjugates, structure, and role in immunity

Our laboratory focuses on studies that concern mechanisms of pathogenicity of diseases with bacterial etiology, the role of bacterial glycoconjugates and proteins in the immune processes, and the structure and functions of bacterial exopolysaccharides, including these from probiotics. Studies of the OmpC protein recognized by umbilical cord serum have revealed that cyclic hexapeptide mimicking epitope on OmpC protein, when coupled with carrier protein, is a useful diagnostic tool for determining specific humoral immune deficiencies in children. Studies on dual-function tubular proteins of bacteriophages have revealed that tail proteins of these bacteriophages possess structural and enzymatic functions. Studies of antibacterial and other biological functions continue, as well as studies of mechanisms of enzymatic activity of such phage proteins. Regarding the studies of advanced glycation end-products (AGE), a mouse monoclonal antibody of IgE class was purified with affinity column on protein L. AGE were determined to be a marker of tissue damage due to exposure to dioxins. We have shown serious developmental distortions and increased AGE level in chicken embryos, while the use of vitamin E, acetylsalicylic acid or combination of both factors inhibited the formation of AGE in embryos and caused reductions of the level of distortion caused by dioxins. Determination of the level of this antigen in different clinical cases allows for the understanding of the biology of these advanced glycation end-products and their significance in pathology. It also provides new information related to mechanisms of disease. Other studies have indicated that exopolysaccharides of probiotics express the potential to modulate the immune system. Our results about structure and function of probiotic polysaccharides from Lactobacillus are pioneering studies in the world towards the understanding the role in immune system activation. We have shown that polysaccharide from Lactobacillus is able to modulate immune response of other antigens. Results of anti-allergic properties of polysaccharide from one Lactobacillus strain have practical significance for potential therapeutics. Immunochemical studies are crucial for understanding biological functions and interactions of bacteria with host and bacteria with other microorganisms.

Laboratory of Virology Head: Professor Egbert Piasecki, Ph.D.

Contemporary neurobiology, periodontal medicine, and immunology are now focusing on the relationship between chronic periodontitis and systemic diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (AD). A causative relationship between dementia and periodontitis, however, has yet to be confirmed. The aim of the study was to determine whether periodontal health status and cognitive abilities are correlated with the relative changes in systemic measures of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines as a reflection of systemic inflammation. We hypothesized that poor periodontal health may be associated with cognitive impairment and dementia via the exacerbation of systemic inflammation. Based on the periodontal and psychiatric examinations and the cytokine levels produced by unstimulated and LPSstimulated PBL isolated from 128 research participants, we have examined whether the coexistence of these two clinically described conditions may influence systemic inflammation. Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Bleeding on Probing (BoP) test results were combined into the one mathematical function U, which determines the severity of specific condition, called Cognitive and periodontal impairment state. Similarly, the levels of cytokines were combined into the one mathematical function V, whose value determines the level of inflammatory state. The correlation between U and V was determined. These results confirm that the presence of cognitive decline and the additional source of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as periodontal health problems, aggravate systemic inflammation. It is most likely that the comorbidity of these two disorders may deepen cognitive impairment, and neurodegenerative lesions and advance to dementia and AD. The results were published in Current Alzheimer Research, 2017; 14: 978-990.

Betulin derivatives containing a 1,2,3-triazole ring possess a wide spectrum of biological activities, including antiviral, anticancer, and antibacterial activity. A series of novel triazoles was prepared by the 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition reaction between the alkyne derivatives of betulin and organic azides. The chemical structures of the obtained compounds were defined by 1H and 13C NMR, IR, and high-resolution mass spectrometry (HR-MS) analysis. The target triazoles were screened for their antiviral activity against DNA and RNA viruses. The cytotoxic activity of the obtained compounds 5a–k and 6a–h was determined using five human cancer cell lines (T47D, MCF-7, SNB-19, Colo-829, and C-32) by a WST-1 assay. The bistriazole 6b displayed a promising IC50 value (0.05 μ M) against the human ductal carcinoma T47D (500-fold higher potency than cisplatin). The microdilution method was applied to evaluate the antimicrobial activity of all of the compounds. The triazole 5e containing a 30-deoxythymidine-50-yl moiety exhibited antibacterial activity against two gram-negative bacteria, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Escherichia coli* (minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) range of 0.95–1.95 μ M). The results were published in *Molecules*, 2017; 22: 1876.

The reaction of bis[(2-chlorocarbonyl)phenyl] diselenide with various mono- and bisnucleophiles such as aminophenols, phenols, and amines have been studied as a convenient general route to a series of new antimicrobial and antiviral diphenyl diselenides. The majority of compounds demonstrated high levels of activity against human herpes virus type 1 (HHV-1) and moderate activity against encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV). They were generally inactive against vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV). The results were published in *Molecules*, 2017; 22: 974.

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOCHEMISTRY Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.

Laboratory of General Immunochemistry Head: Professor Maria Janusz, Ph.D.

Neuroprotective properties of the naturally derived polypeptide complexes

1. Study the effect of yolkin polypeptide complex on p38 kinase activation under oxidative stress on the PC12 Tet On cell line model

2. Study the effect of yolkin polypeptide complex on regulation of the inflammatory response. Effect of nitric oxide secretion and iNOS activity on murine bone marrow-derived macrophages BMDM

Egg yolk proteins are considered a rich source of nutrients. Among these proteins, yolkin plays an important role. Yolkin is a polypeptide complex with properties similar to colostrum-derived proline-rich polypeptide complex PRP/Colostrinin. Yolkin demonstrates immunoregulatory activity, and its polypeptides were found to be strong inducers of cytokines secretion. Yolkin also may mitigate the behavioural symptoms of aging, and support cognitive learning and memory in rats. The neuroprotective effect of yolkin is connected with its positive effect on cell viability and BDNF production/secretion.

The deposits of pathological forms of proteins accumulating in the brain induce an inflammatory reaction. This reaction is accompanied by the secretion of large amounts of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen and nitrogen radicals. The consequence of oxidative stress induced by β -amyloid protein is, among others, activation of signalling pathway dependent on p38 kinase controlling the process of apoptosis of nerve cells. To consider the mechanism of neuroprotective yolkin action in neurodegenerative processes, its effect on p38 protein kinase activity was examined. As a model, rat pheochromocytoma cell line PC12 Tet On was used. It has been shown that both yolkin alone and yolkin applied to the cells simultaneously with hydrogen peroxide had no effect on p38 kinase activity.

The stimulation of innate response is regarded as one of the important strategies to enhance the body's defence systems, especially in the elderly and cancer patients. Activated macrophages produce a wide spectrum of proinflammatory factors. Among them nitric oxide (NO) is one of the most important due to its biological function, e.g. immune regulation, cell differentiation, apoptosis or defence against tumour cells or microorganisms. To consider the potential immunomodulatory activity of yolkin, its effect on iNOS activation and NO production was checked. As a model, bone marrow mouse macrophages BMDM were used. BMDM were stimulated *in vitro* with crude yolk fraction (containing both IgY and yolkin), IgY, and yolkin samples (yolkin after Sec and two yolkin fractions obtained by HPLC: $M_w \ge 25$ kDa and $M_w \le 35$ kDa). It was found that yolkin and its fractions stimulated BMDM cells to release significant amounts of NO. No stimulatory effect was observed to crude yolk fraction and IgY. It has been also shown that this process is dependent on iNOS induction.

The results obtained shown that yolkin polypeptide complex might be used as a potential immunostimulator.

Laboratory of Glycoconjugates Head: Professor Marcin Czerwiński, Ph.D.

Expression and characterization of Plasmodium falciparum EBA-181 merozoite ligand

Erythrocyte binding-antigens (EBA) play a crucial role in the attachment of merozoites to human erythrocytes by binding to specific receptors on their surface. Four functional *P. falciparum* EBA proteins were identified: the erythrocyte binding ligand EBL-1 that binds glycophorin B; the erythrocyte binding antigens EBA-140 and EBA-175 that target the glycophorin C and A, respectively; and EBA-181, which is the subject of our study due to the fact that its receptor remains unknown.

Based on our experience, we attempted to obtain the *P. falciparum* EBA-181 ligand, using the baculovirus expression system. The recombinant baculovirus coding for *P. falciparum* EBA-181 binding region (Region II) was ordered from Genescript. The EBA-181 Region II sequence from 3D7 parasite strain with known polymorphism in nonconserved region (RVNKN) was chosen based on literature review. Two tags were added to this sequence on C-terminus: his-tag and c-myc. Expression was performed in insect cells, line High FiveTM from *Trichoplusia ni*, which are available in our laboratory. Optimal conditions, such as time of expression (48 hours) and the most suitable multiplicity of infection (MOI 5), were used. The presence of the recombinant protein in culture supernatant was confirmed by Western blotting using anti-myc and anti-his monoclonal antibodies. Large-scale expression (400 ml) was performed to obtain sufficient quantities of recombinant protein for further studies. One-step purification from cell culture medium was performed using NiNTA affinity chromatography.

Binding of partially purified recombinant Region II of EBA-181 ligand to native human erythrocytes as well as erythrocytes treated with enzymes was estimated using the FACS technique. We confirmed that recombinant protein was functional and specific. Because the purity of obtained recombinant Region II based on SDS-PAGE assay was not satisfactory, we decided to improve the new expression system using HEK 293E mammalian cells in order to enhance yield and purity of recombinant EBA-181 Region II for further studies.

Laboratory of Microbial Immunochemistry and Vaccines Head: Professor Czesław Ługowski, Ph.D.

Biochemical characteristics of macromolecules involved in immunological processes. Immunochemical studies of bacterial endotoxins

Plesiomonas shigelloides, Citrobacter, and *Edwarsiella tarda* represent opportunistic human and animal pathogens associated with gastroenteritis and extraintestinal infections in humans. Moreover, *P. shigelloides* and *E. tarda* are frequent pathogens of farmed fish. In contrast to other Gram-negative bacteria, these species are still poorly characterized when taking into account the relationship between the activity and structure of lipopolysaccharide (LPS, endotoxin), the main virulence factor of Gram-negative bacteria. Moreover, all the aforementioned species microorganisms that require better characterization of genetic background of LPS biosynthesis.

In 2017, we focused on two important aspects of *P. shigelloides* LPS. The report on the influence of lipid A structure on LPS *in vitro* activity was provided for the first time for this species (Kaszowska et al. Front. Immunol. 2017). Four native preparations differing in lipid A composition were selected as a result of structural screening among 85 strains

representing different O-serotypes. They were analysed for their ability to induce proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6) *in vitro* by in human and murine macrophages. We showed that *P. shieglleoides* lipids A represent highly immunostimulatory structures despite the presence of shorter acyl chains and unsaturated acyl residue (16:1). Secondly, we continued structural analyses into the diversity of *P. shigelloides* O-antigens, identifying a strain CNCTC 78/89 of O12 serotype characterized by modified D-galactan-I of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* O2. The modification, which was attributed to nonstoichiometric O-acetylation (~32%), did not influence cross-reactivity of O12-specific sera with *K. pneumoniae* O2 LPS. High-resolution magic angle spinning nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (HR-MAS NMR) was used as an analytical tool to speed up comparative analysis of relevant strains of *P. shigelloides* and *K. pneumoniae* (samples of bacteria and LPS).

Regarding *Citrobacter* LPS, we provided new data supporting the reclassification of selected strains in terms of appropriate O-serotype assignment within O6, O2, O3, and O8 serotypes (Katzenellenbogen et al. BMC Microbiol. 2017).

Finally, the LPS core oligosaccharide structure and genomics of *E. tarda* strain EIB 202 were studied for the first time, including the complete biosynthesis gene assignment and functions (Kaszowska et al. Int J Mol Sci. 2017).

Publications – 2017

Articles published in the journals from Thomson Reuters Master List:

- 1. Al-Wrafy F., Brzozowska E., Górska S., Gamian A.: Pathogenic factors of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* the role of biofilm in pathogenicity and as a target for phage therapy. Post Hig Med Dosw. 2017;71(0):78-91 **IF 0.690 (15 pkt MNiSW)**
- Antoszczak M., Maj E., Borgström B., Oredsson S., Huczyński A., Wietrzyk J., Strand D.: Bivalent polyether ionophores: Synthesis and biological evaluation of C2-symmetric salinomycin dimers. Tetrahedron Letters. 2017;24:2396-2399 IF 2.193 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Antoszczak M., Maj E., Kleczewska N., Wietrzyk J., Celewicz L., Huczynski A.: Differences in antiproliferative activity between salinomycin-AZT conjugates obtained via 'click' and esterification reactions. Med Chem. 2017;13(2):127-136 IF 2.331 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- 4. Bazylińska U., Pietkiewicz J., Rossowska J., Chodaczek G., Gamian A., Wilk K.A.: Polyelectrolyte oil-core nanocarriers for localized and sustained delivery of daunorubicin to colon carcinoma MC38 cells: The case of polysaccharide multilayer film in relation to PEG-ylated shell. Macromol Biosci. 2017; 17: 1600356 IF 3.238 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Bączkowicz D., Falkowski K., Majorczyk E.: Assessment of relationships between joint motion quality and postural control in patients with chronic ankle joint instability. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2017; 47(8): 570-577 IF 2.825 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- 6. Berntorp E., Dargaud Y., Hart D., Lobet S., Mancuso M.E., d'Oiron R., Perry D., Pollard D., van den Berg M., Blatný J., Chambost H., Doria A.S., Holme P.A., Kaczmarek R., Mantovani L., McLaughlin P., Nanayakkara L., Petrini P., Sannié T., Laane E., Maia R., Dettoraki A., Farrell A., Halimeh S., Raza S., Taylor S.: The second Team Haemophilia Education Meeting, 2016, Frankfurt, Germany. Eur J Haematol. 2017;98 Suppl 85:1-15 IF 2.653 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Bębenek E., Jastrzębska M., Kadela-Tomanek M., Chrobak E., Orzechowska B., Zwolińska K., Latocha M., Mertas A., Czuba Z., Boryczka S.: Novel triazole hybrids of betulin: Synthesis and biological activity profile. Molecules. 2017;22(11). pii: E1876 IF 2.861 (30 pkt MNiSW)

- 8. Bębenek E., Kadela-Tomanek M., Chrobak E., Wietrzyk J., Sadowska J., Boryczka S.: New acetylenic derivatives of betulin and betulone, synthesis and cytotoxic activity. Med Chem Res. 2017;26(1):1-8 IF 1.277 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Biskup I., Zaczynska E., Krauze-Baranowska M., Fecka I.: Evaluation of cytotoxicity of 5-n-alkylresorcinol homologs and fraction on mouse fibroblast cell line L929. European Food Research and Technology 2017; 243(7): 1137–1148 IF 1.664 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 10. Bogunia-Kubik K., Łacina P.: From genetic single candidate gene studies to complex genomics of GvHD. Br J Haematol. 2017;178(5):661-675 **IF 5.67 (40 pkt MNiSW)**
- 11. Borysowski J., Ehni H.J., Górski A.: Ethics review in compassionate use. BMC Med. 2017;15(1):136 IF 8.097 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- 12. Borysowski J., Międzybrodzki R., Wierzbicki P., Kłosowska D., Korczak-Kowalska G., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Górski A.: A3R phage and *Staphylococcus aureus* lysate do not induce neutrophil degranulation. Viruses. 2017;9(2). pii: E36 **IF 3.465 (30 pkt MNiSW)**
- Brzozowska E., Pyra A., Pawlik K., Janik M., Górska S., Urbańska N., Drulis-Kawa Z., Gamian A.: Hydrolytic activity determination of tail tubular protein A of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteriophages towards saccharide substrates. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):18048 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 14. Buska K., Kedzierska A.E., Slawek A., Chełmońska-Soyta A.: Global decrease in the expression of signalling pathways' genes in murine uterus during preimplantation pregnancy. Reprod Biol. 2017;17(1):89-96 IF 1.513 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- Całkosiński I., Gostomska-Pampuch K., Majda J., Leśków A., Janeczek M., Melnyk O.P., Gamian A.: The influence of α-tocopherol on serum biochemical markers during experimentally induced pleuritis in rats exposed to dioxin. Inflammation. 2017;40(3): 913-926 IF 2.955 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Ciechomska M., Zarecki P., Merdas M., Świerkot J., Morgiel E., Wiland P., Maśliński W., Bogunia-Kubik K.: The role of microRNA-5196 in the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2017;47(8):555-564 IF 2.714 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 17. Cieśla E., Zaręba M., Kozieł S.: The level of physical fitness in children aged 6-7years with low birthweight. Early Hum Dev. 2017;111:23-29 IF 2.169 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Cieślik A.I., Dąbrowski P., Przysiężna-Pizarska M.A.: The face of conflict: Significant sharp force trauma to the mid-facial skeleton in an individual of probable 16th-17th century date excavated from Byczyna, Poland. Int J Paleopathol. 2017;17:75-78 IF 1.051 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Danel D.P., Siennicka A., Glińska K., Fedurek P., Nowak-Szczepańska N., Jankowska E.A., Pawłowski B., Lewandowski Z.: Female perception of a partner's mate value discrepancy and controlling behaviour in romantic relationships. Acta Ethol. 2017;20(1):1-8 IF 1.417 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Danel D.P., Siennicka A.E., Fedurek P., Frąckowiak T., Sorokowski P., Jankowska E.A., Pawłowski B.: Men with a terminal illness relax their criteria for facial attractiveness. Am J Mens Health. 2017;11(4):1247-1254 IF 2.141 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Deiana M., Mettra B., Martinez-Fernandez L., Mazur L.M., Pawlik K., Andraud C., Samoć M., Improta R., Monnereau C., Matczyszyn K.: Specific recognition of G-quadruplexes over duplex-DNA by a macromolecular NIR two-photon fluorescent probe. J Phys Chem Lett. 2017;8(23):5915-5920 IF: 9.353 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- Deiana M., Pokładek Z., Dudek M., Mucha S.G., Mazur L.M., Pawlik K., Młynarz P., Samoć M., Matczyszyn K.: Remote-control of the enantiomeric supramolecular recognition mediated by chiral azobenzenes bound to human serum albumin. Phys Chem Chem Phys. 2017;19(32):21272-21275 IF 4.123 (40 pkt MNiSW)

- 23. Denslow A., Świtalska M., Jarosz J., Papiernik D., Porshneva K., Nowak M., Wietrzyk J.: Clopidogrel in a combined therapy with anticancer drugs-effect on tumor growth, metastasis, and treatment toxicity: Studies in animal models. PLoS One. 2017;12(12):e0188740 **IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)**
- Denslow A., Świtalska M., Nowak M., Maciejewska M., Chłopicki S., Marcinek A., Gebicki J., Wietrzyk J.: The effects of 1,4-dimethylpyridine in metastatic prostate cancer in mice. BMC Cancer. 2017;17(1):177 IF 3.288 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 25. Druszczyńska M., Kowalski K., Wawrocki S., Fol M.: Diversity and functionality of mycobacterial mycolic acids in relation to host-pathogen interactions. Curr Med Chem. 2017;24(38):4267-4278 IF 3.249 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Drynda A., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Zaczyńska E., Zimecki M., Kochanowska I., Ryng S., Mączyński M.: 5-Amino-3-methyl-4-isoxazolecarboxylic acid hydrazide derivatives with *in vitro* immunomodulatory activities. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2017; 89(5):705-713 IF 2.396 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Felcenloben I., Żyromska E., Piasecki T., Rossowska J., Kędzierska A., Nowak M., Żyromski M., Chełmońska-Soyta A.: Differentiated all-trans retinoic acid response of naive CD4+CD25- cells isolated from rats with collagen-induced arthritis and healthy ones under *in vitro* conditions. Cent Eur J Immunol. 2017;42(1):39-53 IF 0.776 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- Flouris A.D., Shidlovskii Y.V., Shaposhnikov A.V., Yepiskoposyan L., Nadolnik L., Karabon L., Kowalska A., Carrillo A.E., Metsios G.S., Sakellariou P.: Role of UCP1 gene variants in interethnic differences in the development of cardio-metabolic diseases. Front Genet. 2017 Jan 30;8:7 IF 3.789 (9 pkt MNiSW)
- Futoma-Kołoch B., Dudek B., Kapczyńska K., Krzyżewska E., Wańczyk M., Korzekwa K., Rybka J., Klausa E., Bugla-Płoskońska G.: Relationship of triamine-biocide tolerance of *Salmonella enterica* serovar senftenberg to antimicrobial susceptibility, serum resistance and outer membrane proteins. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(7). pii: E1459 IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Galbarczyk A., Ziomkiewicz A.: Tattooed men: Healthy bad boys and good-looking competitors. Personality and Individual Difference 2017;106: 122-125 IF 2.005 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Gębura K., Świerkot J., Wysoczańska B., Korman L., Nowak B., Wiland P., Bogunia-Kubik K.: Polymorphisms within genes involved in regulation of the NF-κB pathway in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Int J Mol Sci. 2017; 18(7). pii: E1432 IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Ginda K., Santi I., Bousbaine D., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J., Jakimowicz D., McKinney J.: The studies of ParA and ParB dynamics reveal asymmetry of chromosome segregation in mycobacteria. Mol Microbiol. 2017;105(3):453-468 IF 3.898 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 33. Giurg M., Gołąb A., Suchodolski J., Kaleta R., Krasowska A., Piasecki E., Piętka-Ottlik M.: Reaction of bis[(2-chlorocarbonyl)phenyl] diselenide with phenols, aminophenols, and other amines towards diphenyl diselenides with antimicrobial and antiviral properties. Molecules. 2017; 22(6). pii: E974 **IF 2.861 (30 pkt MNiSW)**
- 34. Gliszczyńska A., Niezgoda N., Gładkowski W., Świtalska M., Wietrzyk J.: Isoprenoid-phospholipid conjugates as potential therapeutic agents: Synthesis, characterization and antiproliferative studies. PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0172238
 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 35. Głąb T.K., Boratyński J.: Potential of casein as a carrier for biologically active agents._Top Curr Chem (Cham). 2017;375(4):71 IF 4.033

- 36. Gomuła A., Kozieł S., Groth D., Bielicki T.: The effect of neighboring districts on body height of Polish conscripts. Anthropol Anz. 2017;74(1):71-76 IF 0.651 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Gorczyca D., Postępski J., Czajkowska A., Paściak M., Prescha A., Olesińska E., Gruenpeter A., Lachór-Motyka I., Szponar B.: The profile of polyunsaturated fatty acids in juvenile idiopathic arthritis and association with disease activity. Clin Rheumatol. 2017;36(6):1269-1279 IF 2.365 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Gostomska-Pampuch K., Ostrowska A., Kuropka P., Dobrzyński M., Ziółkowski P., Kowalczyk A., Łukaszewicz E., Gamian A., Całkosiński I.: Protective effects of levamisole, acetylsalicylic acid, and α-tocopherol against dioxin toxicity measured as the expression of AhR and COX-2 in a chicken embryo model. Histochem Cell Biol. 2017; 147(4): 523-536 IF 2.553 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Goszczyński T.M., Fink K., Kowalski K., Leśnikowski Z.J., Boratyński J.: Interactions of boron clusters and their derivatives with serum albumin. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):9800 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Goszczyński T.M., Gawłowski M., Girek B., Kowalski K., Boratyński J., Girek T.: Synthesis of β-cyclodextrin-lysozyme conjugates and their physicochemical and biochemical properties. J Incl Phenom Macrocycl Chem. 2017;87(3):341-348 IF 1.095 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Górska S., Schwarzer M., Srutkova D., Hermanova P., Brzozowska E., Kozakova H., Gamian A.: Polysaccharides L900/2 and L900/3 isolated from *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* LOCK 0900 modulate allergic sensitization to ovalbumin in a mouse model. Microb Biotechnol. 2017;10(3):586-593 IF 3.513 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 42. Górski A., Dąbrowska K., Międzybrodzki R., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Borysowski J.: Phages and immunomodulation. Future Microbiol. 2017; 12(10): 905-914 IF 3.374 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 43. Górski A., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Międzybrodzki R., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Borysowski J.: The potential of phage therapy in sepsis. Front. Immunol. 2017; 8: 1783 **IF 6.429 (35 pkt MNiSW)**
- 44. Grzymajło K., Ugorski M., Suchański J., Kędzierska A.E., Kolenda R., Jarząb A., Biernatowska A., Schierack P.: The novel type 1 fimbriae FimH receptor calreticulin plays a role in *Salmonella* host specificity. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2017;7:326 IF 4.3 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Guachalla L.M., Stojkovic K., Hartl K., Kaszowska M., Kumar Y., Wahl B., Paprotka T., Nagy E., Łukasiewicz J., Nagy G., Szijártó V.: Discovery of monoclonal antibodies crossreactive to novel subserotypes of *K. pneumoniae* O3. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):6635 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 46. Gupta S., Maratha A., Siednienko J., Natarajan A., Gajanayake T., Hoashi S., Miggin S.: Analysis of inflammatory cytokine and TLR expression levels in type 2 diabetes with complications. Sci Rep. 2017; 7(1): 7633 **IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)**
- 47. Helaly F.M., El Nashar D.E., Khalaf A.I., Abdelhamid H.F., Wietrzyk J., Psurski M., Soliman A.: Slow-release nanopolymeric biodegradable composites holding doxorubicin and evaluation its antiproliferative potency on cancer. Polymer Composites 2017;38:E34-E41 **IF 2.324 (30 pkt MNiSW)**
- Hoffmann K., Wiśniewska J., Wojtczak A., Sitkowski J., Denslow A., Wietrzyk J., Jakubowski M., Łakomska I.: Rational design of dicarboxylato platinum(II) complexes with purine-mimetic ligands as novel anticancer agents. J Inorg Biochem. 2017;172:34-45 IF 3.348 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 49. Hołówka J., Trojanowski D., Ginda K., Wojtaś B., Gielniewski B., Jakimowicz D., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: HupB is a bacterial nucleoid-associated protein with an

indispensable eukaryotic-like tail. MBio. 2017;8(6). pii: e01272-17 IF 6.956 (40 pkt MNiSW)

- 50. Ignasiak Z. Sławinska T., Skrzek A., Rożek K., Kozieł S., Posłuszny P., Malina R.M.: Functional capacities of Polish adults of 60-87 years and risk of losing functional independence. Ann Hum Biol. 2017 Sep;44(6):502-509 IF 1.240 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Iwanejko J., Wojaczyńska E., Trynda J., Maciejewska M., Wietrzyk J., Kochel A., Wojaczyński J.: New chiral Mannich adducts of di-tert-butylphenols and a bicyclic imine – synthesis and antiproliferative activity. Tetrahedron. 2017;73(16):2276-2282 IF 2.651 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 52. Janik S., Nowak U., Łaszkiewicz A., Satyr A., Majkowski M., Marchwicka A., Śnieżewski Ł., Berkowska K., Gabryś M., Cebrat M., Marcinkowska E.: Diverse regulation of vitamin D receptor gene expression by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and ATRA in murine and human blood cells at early stages of their differentiation. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(6). pii: E1323 IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 53. Jędrzejczak K., Hrynczyszyn P., Szczesio M., Artym J., Jastrząbek T., Kocięba M., Główka M., Huben K., Kochanowska I., Zimecki M., Zabrocki J., Jankowski S., Kolesińska B.: Synthesis and biological activity of cyclolinopeptide A analogues modified with γ4-bis(homo-phenylalanine). Bioorg Med Chem. 2017; 25(16):4265-4276 IF 2.93 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Jończyk-Matysiak E., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Owczarek B., Międzybrodzki R., Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Łodej N., Górski A.: Phage-phagocyte interactions and their implications for phage application as therapeutics. Viruses. 2017; 9(6) pii: E150 IF 3.465 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Jończyk-Matysiak E., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Żaczek M., Międzybrodzki R., Letkiewicz S., Łusiak-Szelchowska M., Górski A.: Prospects of phage aApplication in the treatment of acne caused by *Propionibacterium acnes*. Front Microbiol. 2017; 8:164 IF 4.076 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Kaczmarek R., Paściak M., Szymczak-Kulus K., Czerwiński M.: CD1: A singed cat of the three antigen presentation systems. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2017;65(3):201-214 IF 2.04 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 57. Karabon L., Tupikowski K., Tomkiewicz A., Partyka A., Pawlak-Adamska E., Wojciechowski A., Kolodziej A., Dembowski J., Zdrojowy R., Frydecka I.: Is the genetic background of co-stimulatory CD28/CTLA-4 pathway the risk factor for prostate cancer? Pathol Oncol Res. 2017;23(4):837-843 IF 1.736 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Karpiński P., Rossowska J., Sąsiadek M.M.: Immunological landscape of consensus clusters in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget. 2017; 8(62):105299-105311
 IF 5.168 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Kaszowska M., de Mendoza-Barberá E., Maciejewska A., Merino S., Ługowski C., Tomás J.M.: The complete structure of the core oligosaccharide from *Edwardsiella tarda* EIB 202 lipopolysaccharide. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(6). pii: E1163 IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 60. Kaszowska M., Wójcik M., Siednienko J., Lugowski C., Lukasiewicz J.: Structure–activity relationship of *Plesiomonas shigelloides* lipid A to the production of TNF-α, IL-1β, and IL-6 by human and murine macrophages. Front. Immunol. 2017 8: 1741 IF 6.429 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Katzenellenbogen E., Staniszewska M., Kocharova N.A., Mieszała M., Korzeniowska-Kowal A., Górska S., Knirel Y.A., Gamian A.: Re-classification within the serogroups O3 and O8 of Citrobacter strains. BMC Microbiol. 2017 Jul 27;17(1):169 IF 2.644 (30 pkt MNiSW) Erratum in: BMC Microbiol. 2017;17 (1):173

- Klimczak A., Siemionow M., Futoma K., Jundzill A., Patrzałek D.: Assessment of immunologic, proangiogenic and neurogenic properties of human peripheral nerve epineurium for potential clinical application. Histol Histopathol. 2017;32(11):1197-1205 IF 2.025 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 63. Klimkiewicz K., Weglarczyk K., Collet G., Paprocka M., Guichard A., Sarna M., Jozkowicz A., Dulak J., Sarna T., Grillon C., Kieda C.: A 3D model of tumour angiogenic microenvironment to monitor hypoxia effects on cell interactions and cancer stem cell selection. Cancer Lett. 2017;396:10-20 IF 6.375 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- Kłobucki M., Grudniewska A., Smuga D.A., Smuga M., Jarosz J., Wietrzyk J., Maciejewska G., Wawrzeńczyk C.: Syntheses and antiproliferative activities of novel phosphatidylcholines containing dehydroepiandrosterone moieties. Steroids. 2017;118:109-118 IF 2.282 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 65. Kłopot A., Zakrzewska A., Lecion D., Majewska J.M., Harhala M.A., Lahutta K., Kaźmierczak Z., Łaczmański Ł., Kłak M., Dąbrowska K.: Real-Time qPCR as a Method for Detection of Antibody-Neutralized Phage Particles. Front Microbiol. 2017; 8: 2170 IF 4.076 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 66. Kmiecik S.W., Krzyścik M.A., Filip-Psurska B., Wietrzyk J., Boratyński J., Goszczyński T.M.: Methotrexate and epirubicin conjugates as potential antitumor drugs. Post Hig Med Dosw. 2017;71(0):618-623 **IF 0.69** (**15 pkt MNiSW**)
- Kociuba M., Kozieł S., Chakraborty R., Ignasiak Z.: Sports preference and digit ratio (2d:4d) among female students in Wrocław, Poland. J Biosoc Sci. 2017;49(5):623-633 IF 1.188 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Kozieł S., Chakraborty R., Bose K.: Relationship between temperament and fatness in 11year-old children and 17-year-old adolescents from Wrocław, Poland. Homo. 2017; 68(6):479-486 IF 0.655 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 69. Kozieł S., Gomula A.: Variation of height and BMI within school classes in 14-year-old children. Anthropol Anz. 2017;74(1):77-80 IF 0.651 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- Kozieł S., Hermanussen M., Gomula A., Swanson J., Kaczmarek M., El-Shabrawi M., Elhusseini M., Satake T., Martinović I.K., Scheffler C., Morkuniene R., Godina E., Saša M., Janina T., Anna S., Nieczuja-Dwojacka J., Núñez J., Groth D., Barbieri D.: Meeting Reports: Adolescence - a transition to adulthood proceedings of the 24th Aschauer Soiree, held at Jurata, Poland, November 5th 2016. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2017;14(3): 326-334 IF 1.554 (0 pkt MNiSW)
- Králík M., Ingrová P., Kozieł S., Hupková A., Klíma O.: Overall trends vs. individual trajectories in the second-to-fourth digit (2D:4D) and metacarpal (2M:4M) ratios during puberty and adolescence. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2017;162(4):641-656 IF 2.552(35 pkt MNiSW)
- 72. Krawczenko A., Bielawska-Pohl A., Wojtowicz K., Jura R., Paprocka M., Wojdat E., Kozłowska U., Klimczak A., Grillon C., Kieda C., Duś D.: Expression and activity of multidrug resistance proteins in mature endothelial cells and their precursors: A challenging correlation. PLoS One.2017;12(2): e0172371 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 73. Krivan G., Chernyshova L., Kostyuchenko L., Lange A., Nyul Z., Derfalvi B., Musial J., Bellon A., Kappler M., Sadoun A., Bernatowska E.: A multicentre study on the efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of IqYmune[®], a highly purified 10% liquid intravenous immunoglobulin, in patients with primary immune deficiency. J Clin Immunol. 2017;37(6): 539-547 IF 3.253 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 74. Krucińska I., Żywicka B., Komisarczyk A., Szymonowicz M., Kowalska S., Zaczyńska E., Struszczyk M., Czarny A., Jadczyk P., Umińska-Wasiluk B., Rybak Z., Kowalczuk M.: Biological properties of low-toxicity PLGA and PLGA/PHB fibrous nanocomposite

implants for osseous tissue regeneration. Part I: Evaluation of potential biotoxicity. Molecules, 2017; 22: 2092- 2117 IF 2.861 (30 pkt MNiSW)

- 75. Kruzel M.L., Zimecki M., Actor J.K.: Lactoferrin in a context of inflammation-induced pathology. Front Immunol. 2017; 8:1438 IF 6.429 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 76. Krzystek-Korpacka M., Górska S., Diakowska D., Kapturkiewicz B., Podkowik M., Gamian A., Bednarz-Misa I.: Midkine is up-regulated in both cancerous and inflamed bowel, reflecting lymph node metastasis in colorectal cancer and clinical activity of ulcerative colitis. Cytokine. 2017;89:68-75 IF 3.488 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 77. Krzystek-Korpacka M., Zawadzki M., Neubauer K., Bednarz-Misa I., Górska S., Wiśniewski J., Witkiewicz W., Gamian A.: Elevated systemic interleukin-7 in patients with colorectal cancer and individuals at high risk of cancer: association with lymph node involvement and tumor location in the right colon. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66(2):171-179 IF 4.711 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- Kulbacka J., Choromańska A., Rossowska J., Weżgowiec J., Saczko J., Rols M.P.: Cell membrane transport mechanisms: Ion channels and electrical properties of cell membranes. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol. 2017; 227: 39-58 IF 1,209 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Kulikov E.E., Majewska J., Prokhorov N.S., Golomidova A.K.; Tatarskiy E.V., Letarov A.V.: Effect of O-acetylation of O antigen of *Escherichia coli* lipopolysaccharide on the nonspecific barrier function of the outer membrane. Microbiology 2017; 86(3): 310–316 IF 0.856 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- Kupczyk P., Reich A., Hołysz M., Gajda M., Wysokińska E., Kobuszewska A., Nevozhay D., Nowakowska B., Strzadała L., Jagodziński P.P., Szepietowski J.C.: Opioid receptors in psoriatic skin: relationship with itch. Acta Derm Venereol. 2017; 97(5):564-570 IF 3.653 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- Kuropka P., Dobrzyński M., Gamian A., Gostomska-Pampuch K., Kuryszko J., Całkosiński I.: Effect of glucocorticoids on ultrastructure of myocardial muscle in the course of experimentally induced acute myocardial ischemia. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:2108497 IF 2.476 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 82. Kuś A., Szymański K., Jurecka-Lubieniecka B., Pawlak-Adamska E., Kula D., Miśkiewicz P., Bolanowski M., Płoski R., Bossowski A., Daroszewski J., Jarząb B., Bednarczuk T.: Gender-dependent and age-of-onset-specific association of the rs11675434 single-nucleotide polymorphism near TPO with susceptibility to Graves' ophthalmopathy. J Hum Genet. 2017;62(3):373-377 IF 2.471 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- 83. Kutkowska J., Porębska I., Rapak A.: Non-small cell lung cancer mutations, targeted and combination therapy. Post Hig Med Dosw. 2017; 71(0): 431-445 IF 0,69 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- Kutkowska J., Strządała L., Rapak A.: Synergistic activity of sorafenib and betulinic acid against clonogenic activity of non-small cel lung cancer cells. Cancer Sci. 2017; 108(11): 2265-2272 IF 3.974 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 85. Kuzan A., Michel O., Gamian A.: Glycation of matrix proteins in the artery inhibits migration of smooth muscle cells from the media to the intima. Folia Biol (Praha). 2017;63(3):105-114 **IF 0.939 (20 pkt MNiSW**)
- Liu T.M., Conde J., Lipiński T., Bednarkiewicz A., Huangi C.C.: Smart NIR linear and nonlinear optical nanomaterials for cancer theranostics: Prospects in photomedicine. Progress in Materials Science 2017; 88:89-135 IF 31.14 (50 pkt MNiSW)
- Lubenets V., Vasylyuk S., Monka N., Bolibrukh K., Komarovska-Porokhnyavets O., Baranovych D., Musyanovych R., Zaczynska E., Czarny A., Nawrot U., Novikov V.: Synthesis and antimicrobial properties of 4-acylaminobenzenethiosulfoacid S-esters. Saudi Pharm J. 2017;25(2):266-274 IF 2.302 (20 pkt MNiSW)

- Lutyńska A., Gołoś A., Augustynowicz E., Orzechowska B.: Wakcynomika i adwersomika jako nowe kierunki wakcynologii. Post Hig Med Dosw. 2017;71:1140-1153 IF 0.690 (pkt MNiSW 15)
- Lusiak-Szelachowska M., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Wojciechowska R., Górski A.: Bacteriophages in the gastrointestinal tract and their implications. Gut Pathog. 2017; 9: 44 IF 2.756 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 90. Łusiak-Szelachowska M., Żaczek M., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Międzybrodzki R., Letkiewicz S., Fortuna W., Rogóż P., Szufnarowski K., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Olchawa E., Walaszek K.M., Górski A.: Antiphage activity of sera during phage therapy in relation to its outcome. Future Microbiol. 2017;12:109-117 IF 3.374 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 91. Macegoniuk K., Grela E., Biernat M., Psurski M., Gościniak G., Dziełak A., Mucha A., Wietrzyk J., Berlicki Ł., Grabowiecka A.: Aminophosphinates against *Helicobacter pylori* ureolysis-Biochemical and whole-cell inhibition characteristics. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):e0182437 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 92. Macegoniuk K., Kowalczyk R., Rudzińska A., Psurski M., Wietrzyk J., Berlicki Ł.: Potent covalent inhibitors of bacterial urease identified by activity-reactivity profiling. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2017;27(6):1346-1350 IF 2.454 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 93. Mak M., Misiak B., Frydecka D., Pełka-Wysiecka J., Kucharska-Mazur J., Samochowiec A., Bieńkowski P., Pawlak-Adamska E., Karabon L., Szmida E., Skiba P., Kotowicz K., Piotrowski P., Beszłej J.A., Samochowiec J.: Polymorphisms in immuneinflammatory response genes and the risk of deficit schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2017; pii: S0920-9964(17)30389-4 IF: 3,986 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 94. Margaryan S., Witkowicz A., Partyka A., Yepiskoposyan L., Manukyan G., Karabon L.: The mRNA expression levels of uncoupling proteins 1 and 2 in mononuclear cells from patients with metabolic disorders: obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Post Hig Med Dosw 2017;71:895-900 **IF 0.69 (15 pkt MNiSW)**
- 95. Matusiewicz M., Neubauer K., Bednarz-Misa I., Górska S., Krzystek-Korpacka M.: Systemic interleukin-9 in inflammatory bowel disease: Association with mucosal healing in ulcerative colitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(22):4039-4046 IF 3.365 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 96. Matysiak J., Niewiadomy A., Głaszcz U., Domańska J., Wietrzyk J.: *In vitro* biological evaluation of novel N-substituted 2,4-dihydroxythiobenzamides. Indian Journal Of Chemistry Section B-Organic Chemistry Including Medicinal Chemistry . 2017;56 (9): 969-975 IF 0.353 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 97. Mazurek-Mocholl M., Majorczyk E., Banach J., Dembowska E., Kuśnierczyk P., Pawlik A.: The influence of KIR gene polymorphisms on the development of periodontal disease in smokers and non-smokers. Centr. Europ. J. Immunol. 2017; 42(4): 347-353 IF 0,776 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 98. Międzybrodzki R., Borysowski J., Kłak M., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Suszko-Pawłowska A., Bubak B., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Górski A.: *In vivo* studies on the influence of bacteriophage preparations on the autoimmune inflammatory process. Biomed Res Int. 2017; 2017: 3612015 IF 2.476 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Międzybrodzki R., Kłak M., Jończyk-Matysiak E., Bubak B., Wójcik A., Kaszowska M., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Łobocka M., Górski A.: Means to facilitate the overcoming of gastric juice barrier by a therapeutic staphylococcal bacteriophage A5/80. Front Microbiol. 2017; 8: 467 IF 4.076 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 100.Misiak M., Heldt M., Szeligowska M., Mazzini S., Scaglioni L., Grabe G.J., Serocki M., Lica J., Świtalska M., Wietrzyk J., Beretta G.L., Perego P., Zietkowski D., Baginski M., Borowski E., Skladanowski A.: Molecular basis for the DNA damage induction and

anticancer activity of asymmetrically substituted anthrapyridazone PDZ-7. Oncotarget. 2017;8(62):105137-105154 IF 5.168 (40 pkt MNiSW)

- 101.Misiak M., Skowicki M., Lipiński T., Kowalczyk A., Prorok K., Arabasz S., Bednarkiewicz A.: Biofunctionalized upconverting CaF2:Yb,Tm nanoparticles for *Candida albicans* detection and imaging. Nano Research 2017;10(10):3333-3345
 IF 7.354 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- 102.Miszczyk P., Wieczorek D., Gałęzowska J., Dziuk B., Wietrzyk J., Chmielewska E.: Reaction of 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole with diethyl phosphite and triethyl orthoformate: Acidbase properties and antiosteoporotic activities of the products. Molecules. 2017;22(2). pii: E254 IF 2.861 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 103.Musalek M., Kokstejn J., Papez P., Scheffler C., Mumm R., Czernitzki A.F., Kozieł S.: Impact of normal weight obesity on fundamental motor skills in pre-school children aged 3 to 6 years. Anthropol Anz. 2017;74(3):203-212 **IF 0.651 (20 pkt MNiSW**)
- 104.NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), Kozieł: Worldwide trends in blood pressure from 1975 to 2015: a pooled analysis of 1479 population-based measurement studies with 19.1 million participants. Lancet. 2017;389(10064): 37-55 IF 47.831 (50 pkt MNiSW)
- 105.NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), Kozieł S.: Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017; 390(10113): 2627–2642 IF 47.831 (50 pkt MNiSW)
- 106.Niepiekło-Miniewska W., Baran W., Szepietowski J.C., Nowakowska B., Kuśnierczyk P.: Lack of detectable fetal microchimerism in psoriasis vulgaris lesions and in non-affected skin in spite of its presence in peripheral blood CD34-positive and CD34-negative cells. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2017;31(1):114-118 IF 3.528 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 107.Niezgoda N.; Gliszczynska A.; Kempinska K., Wietrzyk J., Wawrzeńczyk C.: Synthesis and evaluation of cytotoxic activity of conjugated linoleic acid derivatives (esters, alcohols, and their acetates) toward cancer cell lines. European Journal Of Lipid Science and Technology. 2017;119(10):1600470 IF 2.145 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 108.Nowaczewska W., Łapicka U., Cieślik A., Biecek P.: The relationship of cranial, orbital and nasal cavity size with the morphology of the supraorbital region in modern *Homo sapiens*. Anthropol Anz. 2017;74(3):241-246 **IF 0.651 (20 pkt MNiSW**)
- 109.Nowak A., Grzegrzółka J., Paprocka M., Piotrowska A., Ryś J., Matkowski R., Dzięgiel P.: Nestin-positive microvessel density is an independent prognostic factor in breast cancer. Int J Oncol. 2017; 51(2):668-676 IF 3.079 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 110.Nowak I., Bylińska A., Wilczyńska K., Wiśniewski A., Malinowski A., Wilczyński J.R., Radwan M., Barcz E., Płoski R., Motak-Pochrzęst H., Banasik M., Sobczyński M., Kuśnierczyk P.: The methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase c.c.677 C>T and c.c.1298 A>C polymorphisms in reproductive failures: Experience from an RSA and RIF study on a Polish population. PLoS One. 2017;12(10): e0186022 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 111.Nowak I., Wilczyńska K., Wilczyński J.R., Malinowski A., Radwan P., Radwan M., Kuśnierczyk P.: KIR, LILRB and their ligands' genes as potential biomarkers in recurrent implantation failure. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2017;65(5):391-399 IF 2.04 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 112.Obiegło M., Siennicka A., Jankowska E.A., Danel D.P.: Direction of the relationship between acceptance of illness and health-related quality of life in chronic heart failure patients. J Cardiovasc Nurs, 2017, 32(4), 348-356 IF 2.105 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 113.Okoniewska K.M., Kedzierska A.E., Okoniewski J., Slawek A., Grzymajlo K., Chełmońska-Soyta A., Grabowski T.: New tregitopes inducing adaptive regulatory T cells in mice. J. Physiol Pharmacol, 2017, 68(6): 897-906 **IF 2.883 (25 pkt MNiSW**)

- 114.Orzechowska B.U., Jędryka M., Zwolińska K., Matkowski R.: VSV based virotherapy in ovarian cancer: the past, the present and future? J Cancer. 2017;8(12):2369-2383 IF 2.916 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 115.Ostrowska A., Gostomska-Pampuch K., Lesków A., Kuropka P., Gamian E., Ziólkowski P., Kowalczyk A., Lukaszewicz E., Gamian A., Calkosinski I.: Expression of advanced glycation end-products and NFκB in chick embryos exposed to dioxins and treated with acetylsalicylic acid and α-tocopherol. Poult Sci. 2017 Jun 1;96(6):1874-1883 IF 1.908 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 116.Paprocka M., Kieda C., Kantor A., Bielawska-Pohl A., Duś D., Czekański A., Heimrath J.: Increased endothelial progenitor cell number in early stage of endometrial cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27(5):947-952 IF 2.369 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 117.Paprocka M., Bielawska-Pohl A., Rossowska J., Krawczenko A., Duś D., Kiełbiński M., Haus O., Podolak-Dawidziak M., Kuliczkowski K.: MRP1 protein expression in leukemic stem cells as a negative prognostic marker in acute myeloid leukemia patients. Eur J Haematol. 2017;99(5):415-422 IF 2.653 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 118.Paściak M., Górska S., Jawiarczyk N., Gamian A.: *Lactobacillus johnsonii* glycolipids, their structure and immunoreactivity with sera from inflammatory bowel disease patients. Microb Biotechnol. 2017;10(2):456-468 **IF 3.513 (35 pkt MNiSW)**
- 119.Pawlak A., DE Miguel D., Kutkowska J., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Rapak A., Lostao L.M.: Flavopiridol strongly sensitizes canine lymphoma cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(12): 6655-6665 IF 1.937 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- 120.Pawlak A., Gładkowski W., Mazur M., Henklewska M., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Rapak A.: Optically active stereoisomers of 5-(1-iodoethyl)-4-(4'-iso-propylphenyl)dihydrofuran-2-one: The effect of the configuration of stereocenters on apoptosis induction in canine cancer cell lines. Chem Biol Interact. 2017; 261: 18-26 IF 3.143 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 121.Pawlak A., Kutkowska J., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Rapak A.: Methotrexate induces high level of apoptosis in canine lymphoma/leukemia cell lines. Res. Vet. Sci., 2017,114: 518-523 IF 1.298 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 122.Pawlak A., Rybka J., Dudek B., Krzyżewska E., Rybka W., Kędziora A., Klausa E., Bugla-Płoskońska G.: *Salmonella* O48 serum resistance is connected with the elongation of the lipopolysaccharide O-antigen containing sialic acid. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(10). pii: E2022 IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 123.Pawlak A., Zioło E., Kutkowska J., Błażejczyk A., Wietrzyk J., Krupa A., Hildebrand W., Dzięgiel P., Dzimira S., Obmińska-Mrukowicz B., Strządała L., Rapak A.[:] A novel canine B-cell leukaemia cell line. Establishment, characterisation and sensitivity to chemotherapeutics. Vet Comp Oncol. 2017; 15(4): 1218-1231 IF 1.819 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- 124.Pawlak-Adamska E., Frydecka I., Bolanowski M., Tomkiewicz A., Jonkisz A., Karabon L., Partyka A., Nowak O., Szaliński M., Daroszewski J.: CD28/CTLA-4/ICOS haplotypes confers susceptibility to Graves' disease and modulates clinical phenotype of disease. Endocrine. 2017;55(1):186-199 IF 3.131 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 125.Pawlak-Adamska E., Nowak O., Karabon L., Pokryszko-Dragan A., Partyka A., Tomkiewicz A., Ptaszkowski J., Frydecka I., Podemski R., Dybko J., Bilińska M.: PD-1 gene polymorphic variation is linked with first symptom of disease and severity of relapsing-remitting form of MS. J Neuroimmunol. 2017; 305: 115-127 IF 2.72 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 126.Pietka-Ottlik M., Burda-Grabowska M., Woźna M., Waleńska J., Kaleta R., Zaczyńska E., Piasecki E., Giurg M.: Synthesis of new alkylated and methoxylated analogues of ebselen with antiviral and antimicrobial properties. Arkivoc, 2017; 2017 ii: 546-556 IF 1.031 (20 pkt MNiSW)

- 127.Pluta K., Jeleń M., Morak-Młodawska B., Zimecki M., Artym J., Kocięba M., Zaczyńska E.: Azaphenothiazines – promising phenothiazine derivatives. An insight into nomenclature, synthesis, structure elucidation and biological properties. Eur J Med Chem. 2017;138:774-806 IF 4.519 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 128.Pluta A., Robak T., Wrzesień-Kus A., Budziszewska B., Sulek K., Wawrzyniak E., Czemerska M., Zwolińska M., Golos A., Hołowiecka-Goral A., Kyrcz-Krzemień S., Piszcz J., Kłoczko J., Mordak-Domagała M., Lange A., Rażny M., Madry K., Wiktor-Jedrzejczak W., Grosicki S., Butrym A., Kuliczkowski K., Warzocha K., Hołowiecki J., Giebel S., Szydło R., Wierzbowska A.: Addition of cladribine to the standard induction treatment improves outcomes in a subset of elderly acute myeloid leukemia patients. Results of a randomized Polish Adult Leukemia Group (PALG) phase II trial. Am J Hematol. 2017;92(4):359-366 IF 5.275 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 129.Podleśny-Drabiniok A., Sobska J., de Lera A., Gołembiowska K., Kamińska K., Dollé P., Cebrat M., Krężel W.: Distinct retinoic acid receptor (RAR) isotypes control differentiation of embryonal carcinoma cells to dopaminergic or striatopallidal medium spiny neurons. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):13671 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 130.Pohl P., Bielawska-Pohl A., Dzimitrowicz P., Jamroz M., Wełna A., Leśniewicz A., Szymczycha-Madeja A.: Recent achievements in element analysis of bee honeys by atomic and mass spectrometry methods. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry. 2017;93:67-77 IF 8.442 (50 pkt MNiSW)
- 131.Pokora M., Zambrowicz A., Zabłocka A., Dąbrowska A., Szołtysik M., Babij K., Eckert E., Trziszka T., Chrzanowska J.: The use of serine protease from *Yarrowia lipolytica* yeast in the production of biopeptides from denatured egg white proteins. Acta Biochim Pol. 2017;64(2):245-253 IF 1.159 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 132.Ponińska J.K., Samoliński B., Tomaszewska A., Raciborski F., Samel-Kowalik P., Walkiewicz A., Lipiec A., Piekarska B., Krzych-Fałta E., Namysłowski A., Kostrzewa G., Pawlik A., Jasek M., Wiśniewski A., Kuśnierczyk P., Majewski S., Płoski R.: Haplotype dependent association of rs7927894 (11q13.5) with atopic dermatitis and chronic allergic rhinitis: A study in ECAP cohort. PLoS One. 2017;12(9): e0183922 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 133.Psurski M., Janczewski Ł., Świtalska M., Gajda A., Goszczyński T.M., Oleksyszyn J., Wietrzyk J., Gajda T.: Novel phosphonate analogs of sulforaphane: Synthesis, *in vitro* and *in vivo* anticancer activity. Eur J Med Chem. 2017;132:63-80 IF 4.519 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 134.Puszyńska-Tuszkanowa M., Zierkiewicz W., Grabowski T., Daszkiewicz M., Maciejewska G., Adach A., Kucharska-Ziembicka K., Wietrzyk J., Filip-Psurska B., Cieślak-Golonka B.: Magnesium cinnamate complex, [Mg(cinn)2(H2O)2]n; structural, spectroscopic, thermal, biological and pharmacokinetical characteristics. Journal of Molecular Structure. 2017; 1134: 199-207 IF 1.753 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- 135.Pyra A., Brzozowska E., Pawlik K., Gamian A., Dauter M., Dauter Z.: Tail tubular protein A: a dual-function tail protein of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* bacteriophage KP32. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):2223 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 136.Rossowska J., Anger N., Szczygieł A., Mierzejewska J., Pajtasz-Piasecka E.: Intratumoral lentivector-mediated TGF-β1 gene downregulation as a potent strategy for enhancing the antitumor effect of therapy composed of cyclophosphamide and dendritic cells. Front Immunol. 2017;8:713 **IF 6.429 (35 pkt MNiSW)**
- 137.Sadok I., Gamian A., Staniszewska M.M.: Chromatographic analysis of tryptophan metabolites. J Sep Sci. 2017;40(15):3020-3045 IF 2.557 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 138.Shaban E., Świtalska M., Wang L., Wang N., Xiu F., Hayashi I., Ngoc T.A., Nagae S., El-Ghlban S., Shimoda S., Gokha A.A.A.E., Sayed I.E.T.E., Wietrzyk J., Inokuchi T.: Synthesis and in *vitro* antiproliferative activity of 11-substituted neocryptolepines with

a branched ω -aminoalkylamino chain. Molecules. 2017;22(11). pii: E1954 IF 2.861 (30 pkt MNiSW)

- 139.Sidorczyk K., Świtalska M., Rózga P., Wietrzyk J., Bujak I., Żerek B., Kaczmarek Ł., Cybulski M.: An efficient synthesis of indolo[2,3-b]quinoline guanidine derivatives with their *in vitro* and *in vivo* study. Med Chem Res. 2017; 26(12):3354-3366 IF 1.277 (20 pkt MNiSW)
- 140.Siomkajło M., Rybka J., Mierzchała-Pasierb M., Gamian A., Stankiewicz-Olczyk J., Bolanowski M., Daroszewski J.: Specific plasma aminoacid disturbances associated with metabolic syndrome. Endocrine. 2017;58(3):553-562 IF 3.131 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 141.Smeda M., Przyborowski K., Proniewski B., Zakrzewska A., Kaczor D., Stojak M., Buczek E., Nieckarz Z., Żołądź J.A., Wietrzyk J., Chlopicki S.: Breast cancer pulmonary metastasis is increased in mice undertaking spontaneous physical training in the running wheel; a call for revising beneficial effects of exercise on cancer progression. Am J Cancer Res. 2017;7(9):1926-1936 IF 3.264 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 142.Sochocka M., Diniz B.S., Leszek J.: Inflammatory response in the CNS: Friend or foe? Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54(10): 8071-8089 IF 6.190 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 143.Sochocka M., Sobczyński M., Sender-Janeczek A., Zwolińska K., Błachowicz O., Tomczyk T., Ziętek M., Leszek J.: Association between periodontal health status and cognitive abilities. The role of cytokine profile and systemic inflammation. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2017;14(9):978-990 IF 2.952 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 144.Sochocka M., Zwolińska K., Leszek J.: The infectious etiology of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2017;15(7):996-1009 IF 3.365 (35 pkt MNiSW)
- 145. Stojkovic K., Szijártó V., Kaszowska M., Niedziela T., Hartl K., Nagy G., Łukasiewicz J.: Identification of d-galactan-III as part of the lipopolysaccharide of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* serotype O1. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:684 **IF 4.076 (35 pkt MNiSW)**
- 146.Stompor M., Świtalska M., Podgórski R., Uram Ł., Aebisher D., Wietrzyk J.: Synthesis and biological evaluation of 4'-O-acetyl-isoxanthohumol and its analogues as antioxidant and antiproliferative agents. Acta Biochim Pol. 2017;64(3):577-583 IF 1.159 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 147.Suchański J., Tejchman A., Zacharski M., Piotrowska A., Grzegrzółka J., Chodaczek G., Nowińska K., Ryś J., Dzięgiel .P, Kieda C., Ugorski M.: Podoplanin increases the migration of human fibroblasts and affects the endothelial cel network formation: A possible role for cancer-associated fibroblasts in breast cancer progression. PLoS One. 2017 Sep 22;12(9):e0184970 IF 2.806 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 148.Suder A., Gomuła A., Kozieł S.: Central overweight and obesity in Polish schoolchildren aged 7-18 years: secular changes of waist circumference between 1966 and 2012. Eur J Pediatr. 2017;176(7): 909-916 IF 1.921 (30 pkt MNISW)
- 149.Szafraniec J., Błażejczyk A., Kus E., Janik M., Zając G., Wietrzyk J., Chłopicki S., Zapotoczny S.: Robust oil-core nanocapsules with hyaluronate-based shells as promising nanovehicles for lipophilic compounds. Nanoscale. 2017;9(47):18867-18880 IF 7.367 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 150.Szaleniec J., Górski A., Szaleniec M., Międzybrodzki R., Weber-Dąbrowska B., Stręk P., Składzień J.: Can phage therapy solve the problem of recalcitrant chronicrhinosinusitis? Future Microbiol. 2017;12:1427-1442 **IF 3.374 (35 pkt MNISW)**
- 151.Szczygieł A., Pajtasz-Piasecka E.: Między biologią a medycyną: perspektywy wykorzystania komórek dendrytycznych w terapii przeciwnowotworowej. Post Hig Med Dosw. 2017;71(0):921-941 **IF 0.690 (15 pkt MNiSW)**
- 152.Szermer-Olearnik B., Drab M., Mąkosa M., Zembala M., Barbasz J., Dąbrowska K., Boratyński J.: Aggregation/dispersion transitions of T4 phage triggered by environmental ion availability. J Nanobiotechnology. 2017;15(1):32 **IF 4.946 (35 pkt MNiSW)**

- 153.Szymańska B., Pawlik K., Sawicka E., Dembowski J., Kowal P., Zdrojowy R., Długosz A. Evaluation of NMP22 in bladder cancer patients sensitive to environmental toxins. Advances in Clinical and Experimental Medicine 2017;26(7):1069–1075 IF 1.179 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 154.Ścirka B., Szurek E., Pietrzak M., Rempala G., Kisielow P., Ignatowicz L., Miążek A.: Anti GITR antibody treatment increases TCR repertoire diversity of regulatory but not effector T cells engaged in the immune response against B16 melanoma. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2017; 65(6):553-564 IF 2.04 (25 pkt MNISW)
- 155.Tejchman A., Lamerant-Fayel N., Jacquinet J.C., Bielawska-Pohl A., Mleczko-Sanecka K., Grillon C., Chouaib S., Ugorski M., Kieda C.: Tumor hypoxia modulates podoplanin/CCL21 interactions in CCR7+ NK cell recruitment and CCR7+ tumor cell mobilization. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):31876-31887 IF 5.168 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 156.Trojanowski D., Hołówka J., Ginda K., Jakimowicz D., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: Multifork chromosome replication in slow-growing bacteria. Sci Rep. 2017;7:43836 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNISW)
- 157.Ucieklak K., Koj S., Pawelczyk D., Niedziela T.: Structural masquerade of *Plesiomonas shigelloides* strain CNCTC 78/89 O-antigen-high-resolution magic angle spinning NMR reveals the modified d-galactan I of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(12) pii:E2572 **IF 3.226 (30 pkt MNiSW)**
- 158. Wagner M., Sobczyński M., Bilińska M., Pokryszko-Dragan A., Cyrul M., Kuśnierczyk P., Jasek M.: Preliminary study on the role of TMEM39A gene in multiple Sclerosis. J Mol Neurosci. 2017; 62(2): 181-187 IF 2.229 (20 pkt MNISW)
- 159.Wieczyńska A., Weżgowiec J., Więckiewicz W., Czarny A., Kulbacka J., Nowakowska D., Gancarz R., Wilk K.: Antimicrobial activity, cytotoxicity and total phenolic content of different extracts of propolis from the West Pomeranian region in Poland. Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica Drug Research, 2017;74(2): 715-722 IF 0.745 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 160.Witkowska D., Buska-Pisarek K., Łaba W., Piezga M., Kancelista A.: Effect of lyophilization on survivability and growth kinetic of *Trichoderma* strains preserved on various agriculture by-products. Pol J Microbiol. 2017; 66(2):181-188 IF 0.746 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 161. Wójcicka A., Becan L., Junka A., Bartoszewicz M., Secewicz A., Trynda J., Wietrzyk J.: Synthesis and biological activity of novel 6-phenyl-1H-pyrrolo[3,4-c]pyridine-1,3-dione derivatives. Acta Pol. Pharm. 2017;74(2), 435-443 **IF 0.745** (**15 pkt MNiSW**)
- 162. Wróbel T., Butrym A., Łacina P., Rybka J., Gębura K., Mazur G., Bogunia-Kubik K.: bFGF polymorphism is associated with disease progression and response to chemotherapy in multiple myeloma patients. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(4):1799-1803 IF 1.937 (20 pkt MNISW)
- 163. Wysocka M., Sychowska K., Gruba N., Winiarski Ł., Skoreński M., Psurski M., Makowska J., Giełdoń A., Wenta T., Jarząb M., Głaza P., Zdancewicz J., Sieńczyk M., Lipińska B., Lesner A.: Selection of effective HTRA3 activators using combinatorial chemistry. ACS Comb Sci. 2017;19(9):565-573 IF 3.168 (40 pkt MNISW)
- 164.Zaczyńska E., Artym J., Kocięba M., Burster T., Kruzel M., Paprocka M., Zimecki M.: Antiviral resistance of splenocytes in aged mice. Polish Journal of Microbiology2017, 66(1): 131–134 **IF 0.746 (15 pkt MNISW)**
- 165.Zambrowicz A., Zabłocka A., Bobak Ł., Macała J., Janusz M., Polanowski A., Trziszka T.: A simple and rapid method of isolation of active polypeptide complex, yolkin, from chicken egg yolk. Food Chem. 2017; 230: 705-711 **IF 4.529 (40 pkt MNISW)**

- 166.Zaręba J., Błażej P., Łaszkiewicz A., Śnieżewski L., Majkowski M., Janik S., Cebrat M.: Uneven distribution of complementary sex determiner (csd) alleles in *Apis mellifera* population. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):2317 IF 4.259 (40 pkt MNiSW)
- 167.Zawilak-Pawlik A, Nowaczyk M., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: The role of the N-terminal domains of bacterial initiator DnaA in the assembly and regulation of the bacterial replication initiation complex. Genes (Basel). 2017;8(5). pii: E136 IF 3.6 (25 pkt MNISW)
- 168.Zawilak-Pawlik A., Zakrzewska-Czerwińska J.: Recent advances in *Helicobacter pylori* replication: Possible implications in adaptation to a pathogenic lifestyle and perspectives for drug design. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2017;400:73-103 IF 3.719 (35 pkt MNISW)
- 169.Zdziarski P, Gamian A., Dworacki G: A case report of lymphoid intestitial pneumonia in common variable immunodeficiency: Oligoclonal expansion of effector lymphocytes with preferential cytomegalovirus-specific immune response and lymphoproliferative disease promotion. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(23):e7031 IF 1.804 (40 pkt MNISW)
- 170.Zdziarski P., Gamian A., Majda J., Korzeniowska-Kowal A.: Passive blood anaphylaxis: subcutaneous immunoglobulins are a cause of ongoing passive anaphylactic reaction. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2017;13:41 **IF 2.869 (20 pkt MNISW)**
- 171.Zdziarski P., Paściak M., Rogala K., Korzeniowska-Kowal A., Gamian A.: *Elizabethkingia miricola* as an opportunistic oral pathogen associated with superinfectious complications in humoral immunodeficiency: a case report. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):763 IF 2.768 (30 pkt MNISW)
- 172.Zerka A., Kaczmarek R., Czerwiński M., Jaśkiewicz E.: *Plasmodium reichenowi* EBA-140 merozoite ligand binds to glycophorin D on chimpanzee red blood cells, shedding newlight on origins of *Plasmodium falciparum*. Parasit Vectors. 2017;10(1):554 IF 3.035 (35 pkt MNISW)
- 173.Ziaco M., Górska S., Traboni S., Razim A.M., Casillo A., Iadonisi A., Gamian A., Corsaro M.M., Bedini E.: Development of clickable monophosphoryl lipid As towards semi-synthetic conjugates with tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens. J Med Chem. 2017;60(23):9757-9768 IF 6.259 (45 pkt MNiSW)
- 174.Żelasko S., Gorski A., Dąbrowska K.: Delivering phage therapy per os: benefits and barriers. Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther. 2017;15(2):167-179 IF 3.139 (35 pkt MNiSW)

Publications from the journals not included in JCR database:

- 1. Artym J.: Laktoferyna w profilaktyce i leczeniu anemii z niedoboru żelaza. Naturoterapia w praktyce, 2017; nr 1 (czerwiec-lipiec)
- 2. Artym J.: Colostrum bydlęce w profilaktyce i leczeniu zakażeń oraz zaburzeń immunologicznych. Naturoterapia w praktyce, 2017; nr 2 (sierpień-wrzesień)
- 3. Boratyński J., Szermer-Olearnik B.: Endotoxin removal from *Escherischia coli* bacterial lysate using a biphasic liquid. Methods in Molecular Biology, 2017, 1600: 107-112
- Cienkosz-Stepańczak B., Lisowska-Gaczorek A., Haduch E., Ellam R., Cook G., Kruk J., Milisauskas S., Kozieł S., Szostek K.: Nitrogen and strontium isotopes as tools for the reconstruction of breastfeeding practices and human behavior – a neolithic collective grave in bronocice (Poland). Coll. Antropol. 2017; 41(3): 191-199 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Cieślik A.: Evidence of tuberculosis among children in medieval (13th-15th century) Wrocław: A case study of hip joint tuberculosis in a juvenile skeleton excavated from the crypt of the St. Elizabeth church. Anthropological Review, 2017, 80 (2):219-231 (15 pkt MNiSW)

- Domaradzki J., Kozieł S., Ignasiak Z., Sławińska T., Skrzek A., Kołodziej M.: The risk of fall and functional dependence in Polish Adults 60-87 years old. Collegium Antropologicum, 2017, 41(1): 81-87 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Kozieł S., Bialas G., Zaremba M.: Isolation by distance between spouses and its effect on boys' maturational timing. Collegium Antropologicum, 2017, 41(2): 139-142 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- 8. Kozieł S., Chakraborty R., Danel D., Borysławski K. Is increased facial asymmetry associated with the use of hormonal contraceptive among Polish young women in Wroclaw? Collegium Antropologicum, 2017. 41(1): 39-43 (**25 pkt MNiSW**)
- Kozieł S., Kociuba M., Chakraborty R., Ignasiak Z.: Physical fitness and digit ratio (2D:4D) in male student from Wroclaw, Poland. Colegium Antropologicum, 2017, 41(1): 31-38 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Kozieł S., Danel D., Dziedzic-Danel A., Zareba M.: Effect of marital distance on birth weight and length of offspring. Anthropological Review, 2017;80(3): 313-321 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- 11. Letkiewicz S., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A.: Historia rozwoju terapii fagowej w Polsce. Część 2. Przegląd Urologiczny. 2017; 3(103): 69-71
- 12. Letkiewicz S., Międzybrodzki R., Górski A.: Terapia fagowa antybiotykoopornych zakażeń bakteryjnych powrót do źródeł terapii przeciwbakteryjnych. Część 1. Przegląd Urologiczny. 2017; 2(102): 40-45
- Mieczkowski A., Trzybiński D., Wilczek M., Psurski M., Bagiński M., Bieszczad B., Mroczkowska M,. Woźniak K.: (S)-2-(4-Chlorobenzoyl)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenzo [e]pyrazino[1,2-a][1,4] diazepine-6,12(11H,12aH)-dione—Synthesis and crystallographic studies. Molbank. 2017 (2017) M964
- 14. Nieczuja-Dwojacka J., Siniarska A., Sikorska A., Kozieł S.: Body structure and maturation the association with environmental factors. Anthropological Review, 2017, 80(2): 141-164 (15 pkt MNiSW)

Chapters of books:

- Bronowicka-Szydełko A., Kuzan A., Serek P., Gostomska-Pampuch K.: Comparison of the effectiveness of slot dot-blot and ELISA methods in marking compounds occurring in blood serum in trace amounts. [w:] Szrek J. (red.): Interdyscyplinarność badań naukowych 2017. Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Wrocławskiej, Wrocław 2017, str. 13-18. ISBN 978-83-7493-993-5
- Frydecka I.: Czerwienica prawdziwa. Str. 1765-1768. [w:] Interna Szczeklika 2017, wydanie w oprawie miękkiej ISBN 978-837430459-7; wydanie w oprawie twardej ISBN 978-83-7430-517-4; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017
- 3. Frydecka I.: Nadpłytkowość samoistna. Str. 1768-1771. [w:] Interna Szczeklika 2017, wydanie w oprawie miękkiej ISBN ISBN 978-83-7430-517-4; wydanie w oprawie twardej ISBN 978-83-7430-461-0; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017
- Frydecka I.: Samoistne włóknienie szpiku. Str. 1771-1775. [w:] Interna Szczeklika 2017, wydanie w oprawie miękkiej ISBN ISBN 978-83-7430-517-4; wydanie w oprawie twardej ISBN 978-83-7430-461-0; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017
- Frydecka I.: Czerwienica prawdziwa. Str. 956-960. [w:] Interna Szczeklika mały podręcznik 2016/2017 wydanie VII w oprawie miękkiej ISBN 978-83-7430-519-8; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017

- Frydecka I.: Nadpłytkowość samoistna. Str. 960-962. [w:] Interna Szczeklika mały podręcznik 2016/2017 wydanie VII w oprawie miękkiej ISBN 978-83-7430-519-8; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017
- 7. Frydecka I.: Samoistne włóknienie szpiku. Str. 962-965. wydanie VII w oprawie miękkiej ISBN 978-83-7430-519-8; Medycyna Praktyczna Kraków 2017
- Perk A.A., Batool R., Kanwal S., Pawlak-Adamska E., Nowak O., Ahmad M.S., Mansoor Q., Romero M.A., Awan M., Farooqi A.A., Ismail M.: Targeting of EGFR induced signaling network in hepatocellular carcinoma. [w:] Farooqi A.A., Ismail M. (red.): Molecular Oncology: Underlying mechanisms and translational. Springer International Publishing AG 2017, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-53082-6_7

Popularized scientific article:

Kozieł S., Czerwiński M.: Klasyfikacja rasowa a serologia, [w:] Krew łączy i dzieli, katalog wystawy w Muzeum Żydów Polskich Polin, 2017. Praca przeglądowa

Articles published without IITD affiliation:

- Bzdzion L., Krężel H., Wrzeszcz K., Grzegorek I., Nowińska K., Chodaczek G., Świetnicki W.: Design of small molecule inhibitors of type III secretion system ATPase EscN from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli. Acta Biochim Pol. 2017;64(1):49-63 IF 1.159 (15 pkt MNiSW)
- Łaczmańska I., Karpiński P., Gil J., Łaczmański L., Makowska I., Bębenek M., Ramsey D., Sąsiadek M.M.: The PTPN13 Y2081D (T>G) (rs989902) polymorphism is associated with an increased risk of sporadic colorectal cancer. Colorectal Dis. 2017; 19(7):O272-O278 IF 2.689 (25 pkt MNiSW)
- Laczmański L., Lwow F., Osina A., Kępska M., Łaczmańska I., Witkiewicz W.: Association of the vitamin D receptor FokI gene polymorphism with sex- and non-sexassociated cancers: A meta-analysis. Tumour Biol. 2017; 39(10): 1010428317727164 IF 3.650 (30 pkt MNiSW)
- 4. Misiak B., Stańczykiewicz B., Łaczmański Ł., Frydecka D.: Lipid profile disturbances in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode non-affective psychosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Schizophr Res. 2017;190:18-27 IF 3.986 (40 pkt MNiSW)